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L Identity of Moving Party:

Petitioner Haitham Joudeh was the plaintiff in the underlying Xing
County Superior Court legal malpractice case, and the appellant in the
underlying Division I appeal. |
II,  Relief Sought:

Petitioner Joudeh asks the Court to consolidate this case, including
his pending Petition for Review, with thé similérly»pending Petition for
Review in Auer v, Leach, Washingtoh‘Suprcme Court Case no, 927782,
pursuant to RAP 3.3(b), Both cases raise the same, fundamental issue of
. how a legal malpractice plaintiff proves proximate cause, and more
particularly Whethér the legal malpractice plaintiff must offer expert
lestimony to prove proximate cause, Tlﬁs fundamental issue is also
pending in Slack v. Luke, a Division III Court of Appeals Case no, 32921-
6. Seen. 1, infra, |
I Parts of the Record Releyant to the Motion:

The parts of the Record in this case relevant to this Motion include:

1. .Ioudéla Petition ‘foil‘ Review, p. 2 (Issue no, 1; “Colnsistent'
with Daugert v, Pappas, how does a legal malpractice victim prove
causation in a legal malpractice action?"),

2, Joudeh Petition for Review, pp. 10-13 (“Yictims of legal

malpractice prove causation through inferences drawn from Evidence in



the trial-within-the-trial™),
3. Coutt of Appealé Opinion, Appendix A to Joudeh Petition
for Review, pp. 9-12,
In addition, the following parts of the Record in Auer v. Leach,
Washington Supreme Court Case no, 927782 are relevant to this Motion;!
1. Auer Pefition for Review, pp. 1.2, 11-13 (Is expert
testimony required to establish proximate cause)?

2 Coutt of Appeals Opinioy in Auer v, Leach, Appendix B to
Auer Petition for Review, pp. 18-24,

3. Motion to Publish filed by Attorneys Liability Protection
Society in Auer v, Leach, Div, Il Case no. 46105-6-11. See ., 1.

IV.  STATEMENT OF GROUNDS FOR RELIEE SOUGHT

RAP 3.3(b) authorizes consolidation of cases pending in this Court
if doing so “would save time and expense and f)rovide for a fair review of
the cases.” The Petitions for Review in Joudeh and Auer both rajse |
essentially the same, fundamental issue of how a legal malpractice
plaintiff proves proximate cause. Joudeh Pet, for Rev., pp. 2, 10-13; Auer
Pet, for Rev., pp. 1-2, 11-13, Indeed, the Motion to Pubiish, filed by the

Attorneys Liability Proteotion Society (“ALPS”) in the Division Il Auer in

' To obvlate any issue related to whether the Coutt can or should take judicial notice of
pleadings from other cases, coples of the referenced pleadings from Auer v, Leach and
Slack v. Luke are attached as Exhibits {0 the Declaration of Brian J, Waid submitted in
support of this Motion.



case, explained that “this is an issue that frequently emerges in legal
malpractice cases in Washington” and urgéd publication to “assist counsel
in legal malprlactice'case's, as well as professional liability insurers like
ALPS.” Waid Decl, Ex. B, pp. 2, 3.

Furthermore, the Petitions for Review in Joudeh (Pet., pp. ii-lii)
and Auer (Pet,, p. ii), as well as the Answer to the Petition for Review in
Joudeh (Ans., pp. 11-16), cite many of the same key Washington appellate
decisions related to proximate cause in legal malpractice cases, as do the
~ Court of Appeals opinions in both Joudeh (Opinion, pp, 9-12) andlAuer
(Opinion, pp. 19-24). These same issues and authorities are also currently
under submission in the Division NI case of Slack v. ‘l,ukel,, Case no,
32921-6,2 which is the case referenced by Mr. Talmadge in the Motion to
Publish in Auer. Waid Decl, Ex. B, pg. 293,

.The Petitions for Review in both Joudeh, a Division I'case, and
Auer, a Division II case, involve the same issue, ¢, how a legal
malpractice plaintiff proves proximate causciz, and more particularly
whether the legal malpractice plaintiff must offer expert‘testimony to
prove proximate cause. The same issue is also currently awaiiin.g decision

in Division Il

2 Pertinent excerpts from the appellate beiefs in Slack v. Luke are attached as Exhibits C,
D, and E to the Declaration of Brian 1, Waid, See n. 1 above relative to BR 201(f),



The Court should therefore congolidate this case with
Auer v, Leach, Washington Supteme Court Case no, 927782 because
doing so will allow for the most eff:i.cientvconsideration of the issues
involved, and will be fair to all parties,
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PROOF OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 22nd day of February, 2016, I caused a
copy of the foregoing Petitioner’'s RAP 3,3(b) Motion to Consolidate This
Case With Auer v. Leach, Washington Supreme Court Case No, 927782 to
be delivered to Respondents, through their attorneys on the following in
the manner indicated below;

Counsel for Respondents: (X)U.S. Mail
Jeffrey P. Downer () Hand Delivery
Spencer N, Gheen (*X) Email

Lee Smart, P.S,, Inc,

One Convention Place, Sulte 1800

701 Pike Street

Seattle, Washington 98101

I further hereby certify that on this 22nd day of February, 2016, 1
cansed a copy of the foregoing Petitioner’s RAP 3.3(b) Motion to
Consolidate This Case With Auer v, Leach, Washington Supreme Court



Case No, 927782 to be delivered to Counsel of Record in Auer v. Leach,
through their attorneys on the following in the manner indicated below:

Counsel for Petitioners in Auer v. Leach:

Brian H. Krikorian (X) U.S. Mail
Law Offices of Brian Krikorian ( ) Hand Delivery
4100 194" Street SW, Suite 215 (X) Email

Lynnwood, Washington 98036

Counsel for Respondents in Auer v. Leach:

Philip Meade . X)US. Mail
Merrick, Hofstedt & Lindsey, P.S. ( ) Hand Delivery
3101 Western Avenue, Suite 200 (X) Email

Seattle, Washington 98121

Dated: February 22, 2016,

oo Ll

BRIAN J. WD
WSBA No, 26038
One of Petitioner’s Attorneys
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Brian ], Waid, under penalty of perjury, testifies as follows:

1. I am one of the attorneys of record for Petitioner/Appellant
Haithan Joudeh in the above-captioned matter, and make this Declaration
as authorized by RPC 3.7, based on my personal knowledéc.

2., Attached hereto, marked as Bxhibit A and incorporated by
this reference, 19 a true and accurate copy of the Petition for Review :Ei.léd |
in Auer v, Leach, Washington Supreme Court Case no. 927782. A copy of
the Court of Appeals opinion issued in that case is attached to the Petition
for Review as an Appendix., |

3. Attached hereto, marked as Bxhibit B and incorporated by
this reference, is a true and accurate copy of the Motion to Publish filed by
Attorneys Liability Protection Society (“ALPS”) in Auer v, Leach,
Washington Court of Appeals, Division II Case no, 46105-6-1L

| 4, Attached heréto, marked as Exhibit C and incorporated by
this reference, is a true and accurate copy of an excerpt from the Brief of
Appellant filed in the case entitled Slack v, Luke, Washington Court of
Appeals, Diyision III Case no. 32921-6, consisting of the title page, pp.

i-v, and pp. 1-2, 20-26.
5. Attached hereto, marked as Exhibit D and incorporated by

" this reference, is a true and accurate copy of an exeerpt from the Brief of

Respondents filed in the case entitled Slack v, Luke, Washington Court of



Appeals, Division III Case no, 32921-6, consisting of the title page, pp. i-
vi, and pp, 1-2, 16-23, |

- 6. Attached hereto, marked as Exhibit B and 1ncorp01atcd by
this reference, is a true and accurate copy of an excerpt from. the Reply
Brief of Appellant filed in the case entitled Slack v. Luke, Washington
Court of Appéals, Division III Case no. 32921-6, consisting of .the title
page, pp. i-iv, and pp. 3-10,

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of

Washington that the foregoling is true and correct.

Dated: February 22, 2016,

__/s/Brian ], Waid f‘*‘"""jv]/

BRIAN I, WAID, WSBA. Nﬂ 26038

PR() )4 01"‘ SERVICY,

I hereby certify that on this 22nd day of February, 2016, I caused a
copy of the foregoing Declaration of Brian J, Wald in Support of
Petitioner’s RATP 3,3(b) Motlon to Consolidate This Case With Auer v.
Leach, Washington Supreme Court Case No. 927782 to be delivered to
Respondents, through their attorneys on the following in the manner
indicated below: '

Counsel for Respondents: (X) U.8. Mail
Jeffrey P. Downer . { ) Hand Delivery
Spencer N, Gheen (X) Email
Lee Smart, P.S., Inc, '

One Convention Place, Suite 1800
701 Pike Street

Seattle, Washington 98101
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I hereby certify further that on this 22nd day of February, 2016, 1
caused a copy of the foregoing Petitioner’s RAP 3.3(b) Motion to
Consolidate This Case With Auer v, Leach, Washington Supreme Court
Case No, 927782 to be delivered to Counsel of Record in Auer v. Leach,
through their attorneys on the following in the manner indicated below:

Counbel for Petitioners in Auer v, Leach:

Brian H, Krikorian (X) U.S. Mail
Law Offices of Brian Krikorian ( ) Hand Delivery
4100 194" Street SW, Suite 215 (X) Email

Lynnwood, Washington 98036

Counsel for Respondents in Auer v, Leach: '
Philip Meade (X) U.S. Mail

Merrick, Hofstedt & Lindsey, P.S, ( ) Hand Delivery
3101 Western Avenue, Suite 200 (X) Email

Seattle, Washington 98121

Dated: February 22, 2016.

WAID LAW OFRICE %p
BY: /

BRIAN T,
WSBA N 26()38
One of Petitioner’s Att(n neys
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From: Sarah Hidalgo [maltto:shidalgo @waidlawoffice.com)

Sent: Monday, February 22, 2016 3:23 PM

To: QFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK <SUPREME@COURTS.WA.GOV>
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Good afternoon,

Please see the attached documents for filing In JOUDEH vs. PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC, a Washington
Professional Limited Liability Company d/b/a PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS KOSNOFF, PLLC; DARRELL L, COCHRAN,

Individually and on behalf of the Marital Community comprised of DARRELL L, COCHRAN and JANE DOE COCHRAN [Case
No, 925372],

A hardcopy of the Declaration Exhibits (A-E) will be malled via USPS today.
Thank you,

Sarah K. Hidalgo
Assistant to Brian J. Wald and Jessica Creager

Wald Law Office

5400 Californla Ave SW, Sulte D
Seattle, WA 98136

P: 206.388.1926

F: 206.388,1925

shidalgo @waldlawoffice.com

The Waid Law Office does not represent anyone without a written fee agreement, Review of potential matters does not
create an attorney/client relationship. This communication Is confidential pursuant to RPC 1,18(b).
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L IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS
Ronald Auer and John Traster (hereinafter collectively “plaintiffs™)
~ ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated

in'Section II below.

IL COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners appeal from the decision of Ronald Auer and John
Traster v. James Leach, et al., Division 1. The decision was filed October
27, 2015, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix “A;’. Auer and
Traster filed a motions for reconsideration. Division IT denied the motion
on January 12, 2016. A copy of the Court’s orcicr and amended decision is

attached hereto as Appendix “B”,

I, ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals, (i) erroneously find that plaintiffs
required expert witness testimony, in a legal malpractice action, to
‘establish a causal link between £he breach of duty of the defendaﬁts (which
the trial court acknowledged was met by the cvidencé), and the damagés
suffered; and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to
consider the expert’s opinion on plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration; (ii)
err by failing to properly apply the standard set forth in this Court’s
decision in Keck v. Collins.

With regard to (i) above, this is an issue of first impression in

1



Washington. There is no authority in Washington for the notion that an
expert is required to establish the element of causation in a legal
malpractice case.) Both the trial court and the appellate court held that
such testimony was “required”. With regard to (ii) above, the Court of
Appeals erred by concluding that Appellants waived the argument that th¢ '
Court improperly excluded the supplemental declaration of Paul Brain.
Again, the crux of I;ctitioners’ argument througﬁout this case was the trial
court’s refusal to consider fﬁe supplemental Brain declaration once it
concluded that an expert witness was required to prove “causation”. The
Court of Appeals declined to apply this Court’s decision in Keck v.
Collins, which was decided months after briefing and oral argument. Had
the Court of Appeals applied the principals of Keck, even the Court of
Appeals congeded that an issue of fact was raised (see Original Decision, -

page 27).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1. INTRODUCTION AND PROCEDURAL BAC‘KGRéUND
| This appeal originates from an érder by King County Superiot
Court Judge Beth Andrus, who was assigned as a special judge hearing

this matter venued in the Snohomish County Superior Court.” Plaintiffs

1 To the contrary, in Walker v. Bangs, 92 Wn.2d 8§54, 858, 601 P,2d 1279, 1282
(1979) this Corut held that “expert testimony is not necessary when the negligence
charged is within the common knowledge of lay persons” and only required where the
conduct “involves matters calling for special skill or knowledge.” ,
2 Because all but one judge of the Snohomish County Superior Court recused

2



filed a lawsuit against their former attorneys J. Robert Leach (“Leach”)’,
Christophc; Knapp, Geoffrey Gibbs, and Anderson Hunter Law Firm,
P.S., Inc. (collectively “defendants™).

On Deqember 6, 2013, defendants filed and served a fourteen (14)-
page motion for summary judgment as to all causes of actions.
Defendants’ motion was primarily directed at plaintiffs’ alleged failure to
~ have a standard of care expert, as well aé plaintiffs’ inability to meet the
elements of a Consumer i’rotection Act violation. Defendants spent
approximately 1% Apages in total addressing causation.* In response to
this motion, plaintiffs éubmitted the declaration of Ronald Auer, the

Declaration of Paul Brairi (plaintiffs’ expert witness), multiple evidentiary
| documents from the underlying case, including emails between the parties,
a demand letter from subsequent counsel Ben Wells, and other evidentiary
proof establishing the elements of legal malpractice and violation of the
Consumer Protection Act.’

On January 3, 2014, the court denied defendants’ motion for
summary judgment régarding legal ‘nialpractice as to the elements of duty

and breach of the standard of care, but granted the motion as to the issue

themselves (the remaining judge was disqualified by plaintiffs), the Snohomish County
Superior Court assigned the matter to Judge Andrus,

-3 Defendant J, Robert Leach was appointed to Division 1 of the Court of Appeals
at the end of the defendants’ representation of plaintiffs. Defendant Safeco Insurance
company was never served, '

4 CP (II) 701-714 (see Defendants’ motion pages 7 and 8)
5 CP (1) 433-500; CP (11) 599-604; 745-769
3



6f proximate cause. The court found that there was “no causal link”
between Mr. Brain’s opinions of a breach of the standard of care,
including the delay of the defendants and the failure of defendants to
obtain alternative remedies including an injunction or specific
performancg and that Mr. Brain was required to prévide an expert opi_nion
regarding the causal link.’ The court also granted the Motion for
Summé.ry Judgment as to the Consumer Profection Act finding no public
interest impact and causal link.

Plaintiffs timely moved for reconsideration pursuant to CR 59, and
argued that the court erred. in its ruling on the issue of proximate cause.’
Plaintiffs’ expert Paul Brain submitted a supplemental declaration wherein
he opined that he alv;'ays believed there was a causal {ink between
defendants’ breaches of the standard of care and the damages' sustained by
the plaintiffs.® Upon requesting briefing from defendants, Judge Andrus -
refused to consider any of the additional evidence submitted by plaintiffs

(etroneously finding that they should have been presented sooner), and

6 In her written order denying plaintiffs® motion for reconsideration, Judge
Andrus stated that she believed the facts were “too complex” for a a reasonable juror to
figure out cause in fact without an opinion from an expert as to causation. See CP 34,
This observation, however, ignores the fact that an attorney standard of care expert will
not opine as to the technical complications of “building a road.” Such evidence was
presented by plaintiffs in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment (and as part of
the motion for reconsideration) in the form of declarations from plaintiffs as well as
declarations from Messrs. Seal and Murray. The court simply refused to consider that
evidence, :

7 CP (1) 344-359

8 CP (I) 321-325



denied the motion for reconsideration.” Division II of the Court of
Appeals affirmed Judge Andrus’ deciéion, and denied Petitioner’s motion
for reconsideration. The Court of Appeals affirmed that expert testimony
was necessary to establisﬁ causation, etroneously found that the tria1 court
did not gbuse its discretion, and also refused to apply this Court’s recent
ruling in keck v. Collins, 184 Wash. 2d 358, 357 P.3d .1.080 (2015),
claiming Petitioners had “Waived” that argument—even though the Ke;k
decision was 4issued after briefing and oral argument occurred here.

2. BACKGROUND FACTS

Plaintiff Ron Auer (“Ron”) was an inventor and product developer,
with a broad background in engineering and product incubation. In 2002,
John Traster (“John”) and Ron were looking for real property to build
homes on, which also included commercial quality buildings on acreége
so that Ron could begin work on his hydroponics business. In early 2003,
Ron located the property in the Granite Falls area that he believed would
work for both John’s and his residences and home based busineés. Stephen
Wéstland handled the sale of the property for the estate of Margaret |
Westland, and the real estate broker was Tom Rhinevault. Mr, Rhinevault
began acting as a “dual agent” for Wéstland, and John and Ron. Ron had

never purchased property, and relied exclusively on Mr. Rhinevault’s

9 CP (1) 31-39



expertise as a real estate broker.'’

In the course of negotiations, Mr. Rhinevault drafted an addendum
" to the Purchase and Sale Agreement (“PSA™) that indicated Westland
would bﬁild a road to tﬁe property within 60 days of the close of escrow.
Mr. Rhinevault presented Ron with the PSA and the Addendum. After
closing, Westland constructed a rough road that was not in compliance
with the contract, or local Snohomish County Code requirements, and was
constructed in aﬁ inferior, unsafe and illegal manner. Eventually the
County placed a “Stop Work Order ” on the project. The “Stop Work
Order” and lack of an approved access road to service the two, five acre
 lots resulted in both properties being ineligible for issuance of building
permits. This caused delay ;n the development of the property, which
caused delay in the development of Ron’s business, both residences and
auxiliary buildings, which continued through 2009."! itn '2003, Ron and
John retained J. Robert Leach and the Anderson Hunter law firm to
represent them in pursuing legal claims againsf both Westland and
Rhinevaﬁlt. Ron and John itﬂpressed upon defendant Leach that they
wanted to move the case along quickly because the development of the
property was instrumental in the development of Ron’s hydroponics
businéss, and to both John’s and his homes.. In October of 2003, suit was

filed against Westland to obtain compliance with the terms of the

10 Id. (Declaration of Ronald Auer, §96-7)
11 Id. (Declaration of Ronald Auer, 98-9)
6



contract.'?

jDefendanf Leach and Anderson Hunter dragged out and dclayed
the matter for 5 years—doing virtually nothing. By the end of 2005, and
with the trial date apbroaching, little had been done by Leach to prepare
the.case, despite repeated requests no review of the damages was
conducted, and plaintiffs were facing a motion for summary jﬁdgment. At
‘this point, Leach recommended that plaintiffs drop the lawsuit to avoid
summary judg&ent and re-file a separate lawsuit. Once again, John and
Ron raised the issue of Leach’s lack of performance to Anderson Hunter
management, which resulted in a meeting between defendant Leach and
defendant Knapp, the managing partner. At this meeting, plaintiffs were.
once again assured that Leach intended to communicate better and to
. attend to the case.”

In January of -2006, Leach filed a new lawsuit on the plaintiffs’
behalf Ron and John were assured by Leach tha; he would stay on the
case and be more proactive. Despite his promises, very little was done on
the caée ovér the next 2 yéars to move it to a conclusion, In fact, over a 5-
year period, defendants only billed plaintiffs 7_2 hours in time. In 2003
defendants billed a total of 10.7 hours to proceed with the litigation; in

2004 defendants billed only 6.1 hours; in 2004, 37 hours; in 20035, 12.8

12 Id. (Declaration of Ronald Auer, §10)
13 Id. (Declaration of Ronald Auer, §11)

7



hours; in 2007, only 2 hours; in 2008, 7. 5 hourls.14
In qarly.2008 plaintiffs were suddenly advised that Leach had been
named ;to the appellate court effective March 1, 2008, and that they could
' either seek new céunsel, or that they could “interview” Mr. Gibbs of the
ﬁrm to see if he would handle the matte;-. At this point in time, the trial
date was scheduled for June 2008 (less than 2 1/2 months a way), yet the
defendant law firm had takeﬁ virtually no action to secure depositions or
discovery frém an extensive lis;t of candidates préviously discussed'w'itvh
both Mr. Leach and Mr. Gibbs, A meeﬁng was scheduled with defendants
Leach an& Gibbs at the Anderson Hunter firm Ion February 20, 2008,
- wherein Mr. Gibbs (1) acknowledged that the case had significant merit, -
(2) was “all about Ithe damages” because of the strong basis in evidence,
and (3) agreed to take over the handling of representation froxﬁ Leach.
Mr. Gibbs assured plaintiffs that he had adequate time to prépare the case
for trial, which was coming up in June of 2008. This was the first, and
only, time plaintiffs met with Mr. Gibbs,
"Within 30 days of this meeting, however, defendant Gibbs advised
plaintiffs that he felt there was a “conflict of interest” between John and
Ron due to the difference in magnitude between their claims, and he

further questioned the success of their claims, and particularly the amount

14 CP(I)433-500 (Declaration of Ronald Auer, §12-15; Exhibit 8)
15 CP (1) 439-444 (Declaration of Ronald Auer, 1112-15)
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of damages they cohld recover.'® After representing plaintiffs for nearly
five (5) years, filing two lawsuits, dropping one, and accomplishing
virtually nothing, on April 7, 2008, Gibbs joined' with the Anderson
Hunter law firm in withdrawing as attorneys of record for the plaintiffs.
. Since taking over the case from defendant Leach, Mr. Gibbs had only
worked eight hours on the case, never met with the plaintiffs after the
hand-off meeting, did not c;ondﬁct any pre-trial depositions, and pursued
no discd&ery. Plaintiffs objected to the withdrawal, and requested that
Gibbs and Anderson Hunter not be permitted to withdraw. After a hearing
on the motion to withdraw, defendant’s motion to withdraw was granfed
on April 16, 2008." |

After the Anderson Hunter firm was permitted to withdraw by the
court, the trial was continued until June of 2009. At that point plaintiffs
wete forced to hire ner counsel, Ben W, Wells. Mr Wells submitted

information to the opposing defendants indicating plaintiffs® provable

damages as of September 2005 (at the time Leach dismissed the first
lawsuit) were approximately $2,733.360.21."® By this time, plaintiffs had
- been in litigation for over 6 years, and it had taken its toll on their health,

- marriage, business and income. On March 30, 2009, plaintiffs participated

16 CP (1) 433-500 (Exhibits 4 and 5). Defendant Leach testified he never
identified, nor believed there to be, any “non-waivable” conflict between Ron and John,
1d. (Exhibit 14 thereto) :

17 CP (1) 439-444 (Declaration of Ronald Auer, §918-22)
18 CP (1) 433-500 (Declaration of Brian H. Krikorian, 16; Exhibit 10 thereto)
9.



in a settlement conference with the underlying defendants. Although they
had begn counseled that their damages were well in excess of $8.million
as of March 2009, they had now spent almost $200,000 in attorney’s fees
related to the Anderson firm’s withdrawal, as well as for Mr. Wells to
come “up to speed.” Plaintiffs were no longer in a ﬁngncial position to
continue. As such, despite their reluctance, plaintiffs agreed to accept the
defendant’s offer of settlement of $500,000.'° The settlement actually
netted plaintiffs only approximafely $170,000, which went to sati's‘fy debt
obligations and cost they had incurred outside of the legal case. Plaintiffs’
damages fo_r expenses alone exceeded $800,000 (not including economic
damages which conservatively increased plaintiffs® damages by 1.5to 8

million dollars).*®

V. ARGUMENT

1. GooDb CAUSE EXISTS TO GRANT REVIEW

RAP 13.4 (b) provides that a petition for review will be accepted
by the Supreme Court: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in
conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) if the decision of the
Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the
Court of Appeals; (3) if a éigniﬁcant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is

19 CP (1) 439-444 (Declaration of Ronald Auer, §23)
20 Id. CP (1) 329-344
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involved, or, (4) if the petition involves an issue of su‘bstan't‘}al public
interest that should be determinedlby the Supreme Court.

| As wiu be established herein, Petitioners respectfully submit that
good cause.) exists for this Court to grant this petition for review uﬁder
subdivisions (1), (3) and (4). First—the Court of Appeals division
materially contravenes this Court’s recent decision in Keck v. Collins.
Second-both the trial court’s decision and the Court of Appeals décision
affirming the decision, erronéously found that in ordgr to estabiish the
element of causation in a legal malpractice case, that Petitioners were
required to provide expert testimony to establish a causal link, whlich is
contrary to existing legal authority.

2. THE TRIAL COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN
FINDING THAT EXPERT TESTIMONY IS REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH ~
CAUSATION

In granting defendants’ motion on thg element of causation, the
trial court erroneously found that, aﬁsent a “causal link” created by an
expert, plaintiffs could not establish causa‘cion..21 Cause in fact is usually a
question for the tﬁer of fact and is 'generally not susceptible' to summary
Jjudgment. Owen v. Burlington N. Santa Fe R.R. Co., 153 Wash.2d 780,
788, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005) (quoting Ruffv. King County, 125 Wash.2d
697, 703, 887 P.2d 886 (1995)); Martini v. Post, 178 Wash.App. 153, 164,

313 P.3d 473, 479 (Wash.App. Div. 2,2013); See also Nielson v.

.21 Id page 35; “The summary judgment was based on Plaintiffs’ failure to submit
expert evidence to establish causation in the first instance.” (Emphasis added).
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Eisenhower & Carlson, 100 Wash .Abp. 584, 999 P.2d 42 (2000); Daugert
v. Pappas, 104 Wash.2d 254, 704 P.2d 600 (1985). 'Howevclar, it is the
‘gcneral rule in Washington that in a legal malpractice action, whether a
plaintiff would have prevailed in an lunderlying matter, is a question of
fact for the jury. See Brust v. Newton, 70 Wash.App. 286, 293, 852 P.2d
1092 (1993); VersusLaw v. Stoel Rives, 127 Wash. App. 309, 111 P.3d
866 (2005). | |
Both the trial court and the Court of Appeais reliéd upon, among
others, Griswold v. Kilpatrick 107 Wash.App. 757, 760, 27 P.3d 246
(2001), Smith v, Preston Gates Ellis, L.L.P., 135 Wash.Ap;t7. 859, 363~64,
147 P.3d 600 (2006), review denied, 161‘Wash.2d 1011, 166 P.3d 1217
(2007) and Estep v, Hamilton, 148 Wn. App. 246, 256, 201 P.3d 331, 336
(2008). The court’s reliance upon these 'decisions, however, for the notion
that an expert is required to éstablish causation waé misplaced, in that they
are not analogous to this matter. It should also be observed, that in the
State of Washington, there is no “requirement” that an expert witness be
used even as to the standard of care in somé instances. Sée Walker v.
Bangs, 92 Wn.2d 854, 858, 601 P.2d 1279, 1282 (1979) holding that in
Washington, “expert testimony is not necessary when the negligence
charged is within the common knowledge of lay persolns” and only
required where the conduct “involves matters calling for special skill or
knowledge.” There is simply no legal basis to “req-uire” an expert witnessv

12



to ¢stablish the element of causatidn in a legal malpractice case.

. Moreover, as argued below, once the trial court determir;ed that aﬁ expert
“opinion” as to causation was required; it then erred when it refused to
consider a supplemental declaration by attorney _Paul Brain opining to
causation.

3 APPELLANTS DID NOT FAIL TO ADDRESS THE EXCLUSION
OF PAUL BRAIN’S SUPPLEMENTAL DECLARATION BY THE TRIAL COURT

~ In its decision affirming the findings of the lower court, relying
upon Cowiche Canybn Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801,I809, 828
P.2d 549 (1992), the Court of Appeals found that “only in their reply brief
do Auer and Traster cite Burnett [v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484,
497-98, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997)] or argue that the trial court erred by
excluding Brain’s supplemental declaration as a discovery sanction.” In
Cowiche Canyon,. this Court held that: “An issue rais_ed and argued for .the.
first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideratioﬁ.” (Emphasis
added). Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wash. 2d 801, 809,
828 P.2d 549, 553 (1 992‘). While Burnett was not specifically cited in the
opening brief, the Court of Appeals incorrectly éoncluded that Appellants
never raised the issue of an abuse of discretion in the exclusion of the
Supplemental Brain declaration. By doing this, the Court of Appeéls was
clearly elevating form over éubstance. To the contrary, Appellants did in

fact raise the issue of the trial courts’ initial rejection and refusal to

13



exclude the original declaration of Paul Brain baseci upon it not being a
discovery sanction;* the trial court’s notation that boi;h parties made
“strategic decisions” to hold off making ot requesting éomplete expert
disclosures™ as a basis for not “striking” the original declaration;” and, the
inconsistent and improper éxclusion to consider the supplemental
declaration once Appellants submitted it—even though the Court had
relied upon and permitted the original Brain declaration to be admitted.*
Of greater significance is that the Keck decision was not decided
until after the parties briefed and argued the matter in this case. The Court
of Appeals acknowleged the applicability of Keck, but then refused to
apply that decision by erroqeously sfating that the failure to “cite” Burnett
in an opening brief written over 17 months learlier (and 14 months before
Keck was decided) relieved the reviewing court from fully analyzing the
issue in this matter—and in light of recent Supreme Court authority. In
Keck, this Court held that “[blefore excluding untimely evidence
submitted in response to a summary judgment motion, the trial court must
consider the Burnett factors on the record. On appeal, a ruling to exclude
is reviewed for an abuse of diécretion.” Id. at page 374, Had Keck been
decided prior to June of 2014, Appellants cettainly would have relied upon

it and cited it as well as Burnett in its opening brief. However, at the time,

22 See Footnote 5, page 5 of the Opening Brief
23 See Footnote 27, page 18
24 See pages 39-49 of the Opening Brief
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-the only direct authority on this issue wa-s that ci';ed by Appellants related
to eyidence submitted as “untimely”—not excluded under Burnett. Also,
and as argued both in their opening brief, reply brief, and infra, Judge
Andrus specifically rejected applying the Burnett factors during oral

‘ argumeﬁt, and only did so in her final rulingmafter Appellants submitted
the supplemental declaration to the trial court.

4. " APPLYING KECK AND BURNETT THE TRIAL COURT
ABUSED ITS DISCRETION

A. The Court of Appeal Erroneously Concluded Appellants’
Submission of Mr. Brain’s Information was “Untimely”

In rendering its decisioh, the Court of Appeals materially erred by
concluding that the exclusion of the supplemental Brain declaration was
an “appropriate” sanction since “Auer and Traster had not provided
Brain’s opinion as required by the discovery rules until long after the
discovery cutoff"> This was simply not cotrect, and the record is
contrary to this (and was fully cited in the opening brief and reply brief).®
When this was raised to the Court of Appeals in Petitioner’s Motion for
Reconsideration, the Court merely Ehanged the opinion to comport to its

ruling—and again erroneously stated that Petitioners did not provide Mr.

25 See page 26 of the Original Decision

26 Discovery was not cutoff at the time of the motion for summary judgment
hearing and when the motion for reconsideration was filed. On December 4, 2013, the
parties stipulated to a ttial continuance of March 190, 2014, and a discovery cui-off of
January 31, 2014. This means that at the time of the hearing on the Motion for Summary
Judgment, defendants had almost a month to depose Mr. Brain before the cut-off, and
almost 2 months before trial.

15



Brian’s opinion “until they moved fo reconsideration of the court’s
dec'ision on summary judgment.”*’ Agairi, this is si@ply erroneous and
not'supported by the record. In late November 2013, plaintiffs amended
their discovery response and provide‘d a basis for Mr. Brain’s opinion on
November 27, 201 3., and produced additional documents responsive to the
expert discovery at the same time, Piaintiffs also agreed, at defendants’
counsel’s- request, to continue the trial 45 days to permit him additional
time to take depositions. Petitioners then providéd Mr. Brain’s opinion in
December 2013.%

F inally——kfudge Andrus .speciﬁcally found that she did not believe
that Appellants had committed a “sanctionable” discovery abuse.”
First—during the summary judgment hearing, Judge Andrusvrejected
defendants’ untimely motion to exclude Mr. Brain’s declaration.®® In
Judge Andrus’s order denying the motion for reconsideration, she
confirmed her oral rulirlxlg 'Fhat “[t}he court ultimately decided not to
exclude Mr. Brain’s initial declaration because Defendants did not move
to compel answers o expert interrogatories and waited months before
asking Plaintiffs to supplement the expert interrogatory. The Court

concluded that both parties had made strategic decisions to hold off on

27 See-Appendix B

28 CP 433-435 (713-6)

29 See CP 34; RP 58:2 to 62:24,
30 RP 62:7-24
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making or requesting complete expert disclosures.” (Emphasis added),”!

The record clearly refutes the Court oflAppeal’s erroneous
conclusion that Auer and Traster waited until after the Motion for
Summary Judgment decision to provide Mr. Brain’s téstimony, and the
Court of Appeals therefore erred by not fully analyzing this issue under
Keck and Burnett,

B. Applying Keck and Burnett The Decision Should Be -
Reversed '

As this Court noted in Keck, the purpose of a Motion for Summary |
Judgment is not to cut litigants from their right to a trial by jury if “they
reétlly have evidence which they will offer on a triai.” Keck, at 369. In
doing 50, this Court extended the Burnett factors from a discovery sanction
to the exclusién of untimely evidence submitted in support of a Motion fof
Summafy Judgment opposition. Id. Because the Court of Appeals
erroneously found that the plaintiffs waived this argument, and further
incorrectly found that this was an appropriate discovery sanction (which it -
was not), the Court summarily held that “[w]ithout Brain’s supplemental
declaration” any new evidence did not change the analysis of causation.*®
In effect, then,‘the Court of Appeals acknpwledged that Petitioners had
created an issue of fact with Brain’s tesﬁmony—but instead chose to

penalize Petitioners because Keck was decided well after the briefing and

31 See CP 34
32 Decision, page 27
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oral argument in this 6ase. The Court of Appeals then refused to
- reconsider that finding, and refused to analyze the Brain declaration under
both Burnett and the de novo factors of summary judgment review.
In his supplemental declaration; Mr. Brain éoncluded that he

“would draw a direct and proximate causal link between the failure” Qf
. defendants “to exercise due diligence and any damage after the voluntary
dismissal [of the first action in 2005].”** Mr. Brain further obined.that a
properly framed motion for injunctive relief would have had a very high
chance of success because “interests ih property under Washington law are
putatively unique as a practitioner involved in a property rights case
should be aware. The fact that there may be an accessory damages remedy
does not preclude injunctive relief because the interest being protected is
unique, in this case the uée and enjoyment of the property.”* Finally, Mr.
Brain opined that based upon his experience as a practitioner in the sarﬁe
area, as well as his review of the material in this case, his §pinion is the -
defendants would have been suécessful in obtaining some form of
' .equitable rémedy in the first instance, and. this would have substantially
mitigated the damages suffered by the plaintiffs, as well as eliminate

further damages resulting from the dismissal of the 2003 lawsuit,*® This is

supported by the evidence, and the declarations of Mr. Seal and Murray

33 CP (1) 321-325 (Supplemental Declaration of Paul Brain 42) -
34 Id at 3
35 Id ar 144-5
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(both engineers, and current and/or former employees of Snohomish
' County), which were also submitted as part of the motion for
reconsideration. Both men testified that‘a road could have been built, and
the road permitted without the need for easements or other concessions.*®
As noted by this Court i}l Keck, there is no greater “sanction” than
excluding evidence. In light of the fact that Petitioners had provided Mr,
Brains opinions prior to the Discovery cut-off, and thaf discovery was not
cut-off at the time of the Mofion for Summary Judgment, Appellants could
suggest numerous “lesser sanctions”, including monetary, discovery
remedies and others (including another trial continuance), which would
have ameliorated any alleged “prejudice” to the defendants. When a trial
court excludes testimony in response to a party's failure to obey a
discovery order, the record must demonstrate that: (1) the trial court found

the disobedient party's refusal to obey a discovery order was willful or

deliberate and substantially prejudiced the opponent's ability to prepare
for trial; and (2) the Court explicitly considered whether a lesser sanction
would probably have sufficed. Bur;nett, 131 Wn.2d at 494 (citing Snedigar
. Hodderson, 53 Wn.App. 476, 487, 768 P.2d 1 (1989)). |
There was no “discovery order” that plaintiffs “willfully” or
“deliberately” refused to obey. Second-—plaintiffs did disclose their

expert as required by the Court’s scheduling order, and further

36 CP (1) 194-297, 392-344 (Declarations of Ron Auer and John Traster)
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supplemented its discovery when finally requested to do so by the
defendants. Finally—Judge Andrus specifically found that (i) both
counsel for plaintiffs and defendants rﬁade “strategic™ decisions to delay
disdovery disclosures; and (ii) that defendants’ failure to move to compel
and to seek supplementation for several months did not justify the k

. exclusion of Mr. Brain’s testimony. In other words, there was no willful
disobedience of a court order by plaintiffs. For Judge Aﬁdrqs to take
inconsistent positions on this is a cleai‘, manifest abuse of discretionland
certainly could have considered a “lesser sanction” rather than exclude
Mr. Brain’s supp]eméntal testimony, as well as the other evidence which

addressed issues raised solely in defendants’ reply brief.

IV. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, Petitioners respectfully request
that this Court grant their Petition for Review, and reverse the Court of
Appeals and trial court.
Dated: February 10,2016

LAW OFFICES OF BRIAN H. KRIKORIAN

Brian H. Krikorian, WSBA # 27861
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On February 10, 2016, I caused to be served a copy of the
document described as Aﬁpellant’s Opening Brief on the interested

patrties in this actidn, by United States, First Class Mail and email,

addressed as follows:
Philip Meade
Merrick, Hofstedt & Lindsey, P.S.
3101 Western Avenue, Suite 200
Seattle, WA 98121

Attorney for Defendants

I declare under penalty of petjury under the laws of the State of
Washington that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed this 10™ day of February, 2016.

Y

Brian H. Krikorian
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Filed

' Washington State
Court of Appeals

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTONsion Two
DIVISION 1\ October 27, 20}.5

:RONALD AUER and JOHN TRASTER, No. 46105-6-11

Appellants/Cross Respondents,

UNPUBLISHED OPINION
V. '

J. ROBERT LEACH and JANE DOE LEACH,
his wife; CHRISTOPHER KNAPP and JANE
DOE KNAPP, his wife; GEOFFREY GIBBS
and JANE DOE GIBBS, his wife; ANDERSON
HUNTER LAW FIRM, P.S, INC.; and
SAFECO INSURANCE, |

Respondents/Cross Appellants.

BJIORGEN, A, C J. — Ronald Auer and John Traster sued the Anderson I—Iunter Law Firm
. P.S., J. Robert ‘Leach,1 Jane Doe Leach, Geoffrey Gibbs, Jane Doe Gibbs, Christopher Knapp,
and Jane Doe Knapp (collectwely lawyers?) alleging legal malpractice and violation of
Washington’s Consumer Protection Act (CPA), chapter 19.86 RCW. The trial court first denied
the lawyers’ summary judgment motion seeking dismissal of the malpractice claim as time-
barred under RCW 4, 16.080(2). The trial court then granted the lawyers® motion for summary
judgment on both the malpractice and CPA claims, determining that Auer and Traster failed to
faise genuine issues of maferia] fact on essential elements of each claim. After Auer and Traster

moved for reconsideration on the malpractice ¢laim and filed a supplemental declaration by their

! Leach’s representation of Auer and Traster in the underlying suit involved in this appeal began
when he was in private practice and ended with his appomtmcnt to an open position on Division
One of the Court of Appeals.

? We refer to individuals by name when discussing claims pertaining only to them.
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expert, Paul Brain, the trial court struck this declaration and denied reconsideration of its order
dismissing the malpractice claim.

Auer and Traster appeal, arguing that the grant of summary judgment in favor of the
lawyers was improper, because genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether the lawyers’
alleged malpracticé proximately caused Auer and Traster their injuries and Whether the lawyers
committed deceptive acts that affected the public interest. Auerl-and Traster also argue that the
trial court erred or abused its discretion by refusing to consider the new evidence offered on
reconsideration and by denying their motion for rcconsideration. The lawyers cross-appeal the
trial court’s denial of their summary judgment mbtion to dismiss the malpractice claim on
grounds of untimeliness. |

We affirm the trial court’s grant of summéry judgment in favor of the lawyers on the
malpractice and CPA.claims. ‘We also affirm the trial court’s order striking Brain’s éuﬁplemental
declaration and its order denying reconsideration of its summary judgment order on the
'nialpractice'claim. ‘As to the cross-appeal, we affirm the trial couﬁ’s deﬁial of summary
judgment dismissing the malpractice claim against Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Doe Leach, '
Gibbs and Knapp as time-barred. However, we reverse the trial court’s denial of summary
judgment dismissing the malpractice élaim against Jané Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Knapp as timé—
barred. Aécordingly, we afﬁfm in part, reverse in part, and remand for the trial court t6 énter an
order granting sﬁmmary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim against Jane Doe Gibbs and
Jane Doe Knapp.

FACTS

A, The Underlying Lawsuit

In 2003, Auer and Traster purchased two lots to “construct upper scale single family
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residences, as well as large commercial quality shop structures.”® Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 441.
Auer wanted his commercial shop to operate his business in; Traster wanted his for the pufsuit of
“various activities and hobbies.” CP at441.

The agreements for the purchase and sale of the lots each required the seller, the estate of _
Margaret Westl;cmd, to obtain certain permits and construct a driveway to the properties within
60 dayé of closing escrow. After closing, the eétate began constrﬁcting that driveway. However,
the estate failed to obtain the nécessé\ry permits and the driveway did not conform to the '
Snohomish County Code, causing the county fo issue a sfop work order for the project. That
order, along with the lack of an “approved 'access.road” to the two properties, rendered the
properties ineligible fér building permits and disrupted Auer’s and Traster’s plans for the lots.

Auer and Traster retained Leach and the Anderson Hunter Law Firm to pursue legal
claims against the Westland estate, the realtor who drafted the purchase and sale agreements, and
the realtor’s employer. Auer ;md Traster filed suit for breach of contract. against thosel
 defendants in 2003,

Auer’s and Traster’s relationship with Leach was a difficult one. Auer and Traster
frequently complained to Christopher Knapp, Anderson Hunter’s managing partner, about
perceived failures to cormnunicate,.to take requested action, and to diligently ﬁursue their claims.

Knapp assured Auer and Traster that Leach would do a better job communicating with them and -

3 Traster apparently purchased both lots and Auer then purchased his from Traster. The lawyers
argue that this makes Auer Traster’s assignee and limits the liability of the lawyers in the
underlying suit, and consequently their liability. Because the lawyers give the issue only passing
treatment, we do not address it, Habitat Watch v. Skagit County, 155 Wn,2d 397, 416, 120 P.3d
56 (2005) (quoting State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 868-69, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)).
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promised that he would monitor the situation. Nevertheless, Auer and Traster became
dissatisfied with Knapp’s monitoring of Leach’s work.

The acrimony between Leach, Knapp, Auer, and Traster eventually caused Anderson
Hunter to try to end the attorney-client' relationship. Knapp e-mailed Leach, telling him that
“[t]his client is very rude. I would withdraw.” CP at 470. Knapp also repeatedly told Auer and
Traster that they might want to seek represcntatién that would work better for them, but they

refused. |

By 2005, the estate had filed a motion for summary judgment. Leach recommended that
Auer and Traster voluntarily dismiss the suit‘under CR 41 to avoid summary judgment and then .
refile the claim as a new lawsuit, Auer and Traster maintain‘ that Leach’s lack of preparation
necessitated the nonsuit, but they agreed to the plan. Accordingly, the original suit was
dismissed and a new one filed in 2006.

Effective March 1, QOOS, the governor appointed Leach to an open seat on Division One
of the Washington State Court of Appeals. Accordingly, Leach withdrew from représenting
Aver and Traster. However, they remained Anderson Hunter’é clients and Geoffrey Gibbs,
anotﬁer attorney from the firm, began representing them.

Later in March, Gibbs informed Auer and Trgster that his pretrial preparationé had
uncoﬁered a poteritial cénﬂict of interest that complicated his representation of bofh of them.*
Auer and Traster told Gibbs that they had already discussed the potential conflict with Leach and .

had “come to an agreement to resolve” it. CP at 444,

4 The alleged conflict of interest arose from the disparate size of Auer’s and Traster’s claims.
Traster claimed a small amount of damages related to inconveniences caused by the delay in
getting the building permits. Auer claimed similar damages plus large business losses, Gibbs
informed Auer and Traster that the difference in the value of their claims created a potential
conflict in deciding whether to accept any possible settlement offer.

4



No. 46105-6-11

' Gibbs announced that Auer and Traster had failed to address his concerns and served a
notice of withdrawal to terminate his and Anderson Hunter’s representation of them. When Auer
and Traster objected to the withdrawal, Gibbs filed a motion before the superior court, which
then granted the withdrawal.,

Auer and Traster eventually retained new counsel to represent them, Gibbs had
previously informed Auer and Traster that, aﬁer taking over representation of them for Leach, he
would only need to billb approximately $50,000 in order to take the matter tilrough n;ial.‘ Auer
and Traster’s new counsel billed them approxim‘ately $200,000 for time spent preparingAfor, and
taking them to, a scheduled mediation.

The mediation resulted in a settlement between Aﬁer and Traster aﬁd the defen&ants in

- the underlying suit. Although Auer and Traster valued their claims as worth over $8,000,000,
ﬁley received only $500,000 in the settlement and a construction easement so that they could get
a permit gnd complete the road required By the.purchase and sale agreement. Auel; maintains
that he and 'I‘t;aster settled because the protractedl lggal_battle caused by the defendants’ lack of

diligence had drained them of the financial resources necessary to continue to assert their claims.

B. The Lawsuit Against the Lawyers

On February 14, 2011, Auer and Traster appeared pro se and filed summonses and a
complaint in Snohomish County Superior Court. These named Anderson Hunter, Leach and his

wife, Gibbs and his wifé, and Knapp énd his wife as defendants.
The complaint’s first cause of action was malpractice. Auer and Traster alleged:

That the said Defendants failed to fully advise Plaintiffs of their rights and
appropriate tactics and strategy, failed to diligently pursue the litigation, had
undisclosed conflicts of interest, served their own interest at the expense of the
Plaintiffs, failed to pursue necessary discovery, failed to prepare the case for trial,
necessitated dismissal of the 2003 case and refiling of the 2006 case, then withdrew
from the 2006 case in 2008 as trial approached, made multiple misrepresentations

5
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to Plaintiffs and claimed a wrongfully asserted conflict of interest between the two
Plaintiffs herein as justification for withdrawal. That Defendants refused to
disgorge payments wrongfully received and Plaintiffs were impaired in retaining
replacement counsel and incurred additional litigation expenses as a consequence
of the withdrawal of said Defendants. '

CPat 1133.
The complaint’s second cause of action was for violation of the CPA, Auer and Traster

alleged:

That the said Defendants’ conduct set forth above was unfair and deceptive
within the meaning of the Consumer Protection Act, implicated the entrepreneurial

aspects of the practice of law, is likely to be repeated, and constituted business
practices of the Defendants.

CP at 1134.

In April 2011, Auer and ’I‘rastef retained new couﬁsel and on April 26 served the
SUMMOonses, coxﬁplaint, notice of appearance, and the superior court case éummary printout on
| Anderson Hunter, Leach, Gibbs, and Knapp. However, the summonses and the notice of
a;')pearance. were mistakenly qaptioned for King County Superior Coﬁft. The superior court case
summary showed the action as filed in Snohomish County. On April 29, due to an impending
. scheduled vacation, Auer’s and Traster’s counsel filed a notice of unavailability listing the
Snohomish' County cause number of Auer’s and Traster’s action served on the defendﬁnts.

The lawyeré served a special notice of appearance éaptioned for Snc;ﬁomi'sh County
Superior Court on May 4, 2011. Further, the lawyers’ dounsel served a notice of withdrawal and
substitution captioned for Snohomish County Superior Court on the parties and filed it in the
Snohomish County Superior Court.

In early June 2011, the lawyers filed a motion to'dismiss the action, They alleged that

Auer and Traster had failed to properly serve them with process, warranting dismissal under CR
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12(b)(4) and (5). Specifically, the lawyers contended that Anderson Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp
ha& never been served with a Snohomish County sumimons as required to complete
commencement of the action and that Leach and the three Jane Doe defendaﬁts had névér been
served with any prdcess at all.

On June 16, 201.1, the lawyers’ counsel accepted servicé of a summons and complaint on
behalf of Leach and his wife. That summons listed Snohomish County as the action’s venue.

With the service of a Snohomish County summons on Leach and his wife, the lawyers
struck their oriéinal ﬁdtion to dismiss land filed a motion for summary judgment seeking
dismissal of the malpractice claim as time-barred uﬁder RCW 4,16.080(2). The lawyers arghed
that the summonses served on Anderson Hunter, Gist, and .Knapp began commencement of an
- action in King County rather than compléted commencement of the action in Snchomish County.
They contended that the Snohomish County action Wﬁs never fuIly‘commenced as required by
RCW 4.,16.170 until service of the summonses on Leach and his wife, which occurred outsidé
both the three-year stétute of limitations geﬁerally applicable to tort claims and the 90-day tolling
period initiated by the filing of the complaint under RCW 4.16.170.

The trial court denied the lawyers® summary judgment motion requesting dismissal of the
malpractiée claim as time-barred, reasoning that the summonses ,substantially' complied 'with the
governing rules émd that the failure to correctly identify the court was an ﬁﬁxendable defect.
Becéuse the summonses served their purposes, namely notifying the lawyers of the deadline to
answer Auer’s and Traster’s complaint and of the consequences for failing to do so, the trial
court found that the defect in the summonses did not prejudice the lawyers. Given the' lack of

prejudice, the trial court granted Auer and Traster leave to amend the summonses to correctly
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.ideptify Snohomish County, rather than King County, as the court where they would litigate the
action. | |

The lawyers then moved for summary judgment on both Auer’s and Traster’s claims,
- contending that no genuine issues of material fact existed on at least two of the elements of legal
malpractice: the breach of a legal duty and causation. The ]ﬁwyers also maintained th;t no
genuine issues of material fact existed on at least three of the elements of the CPA claim: that
their acts had occui'red in trade or commerce, that their acts impacted the puBlic interest, and that
their acts had been unfair. | |

Auer and Traster responded by submitting additional evidence that they claimed showed
the existence of genuine issues of material fact, including a declaration by their expert, Paul
Brain. After reciting the elementé of a legal malpractice claim, Brain stated that he assuméd the
existence of an attorney-client relationship that woﬁld create a duty of care, but that “{c]ausation
may not be a proper subject for [his] opinion.” CP at 600. Brain then opined that the lawyers
had breached their duty of care by pursuing legal remedies rather than equitéble ones; given
Auer’s and Traster’s goals with the suit. Brain also declared that thé lawyers had breached their
duty of care by failing to diligently pursue Auer’s and Traster’s interésts, failing to engage in
timely discovery, and recommending th#t Auer and Traster take a nonsuit to avoid summary
judgment, F.iﬁally, Brain opined that Gibbs’ proffered reasons for witﬁdrawing as counsel were
pretextual, |

The trial court granted the lawyers’ motion for summary judgment on both of Auer’s and
Traster’s claims. Though finding that Brain’s declaration raised genuine issues of material fact
about several breaches of duty by the lawyers, the trial court found no evidence that .indicated or

supported an inference that any breach caused Auer’s and Traster’s injuries; Specifically, the
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trial court determined that Auer and Traster had failed to create a genuine issue of material fact
.regérding whethef they would have succeeded in the underlyihg action absent the alleged
malpractice. The trial court granted the motion for summary judgment on the CPA claim after

 determining that Auer and Traster had failed to establish that the withdrawal had affected the
public interest.

Auer and Traster move,d.for reconsideration under CR 59(a)(1), (7)-(9) on the
malpractice claiin, submitting new evidence in conjunction with that motion. One of these new
pieces of evidence was a supplerﬁental declaration from Brain, In i;c Brain stated that “[t]he fact |
that [he] did not address causation in [his] previous declaration only represent[ed] the fact that | |
[he] was not asked to offer an opinion on causation in that declaration,” CP at 321, Brain then
declared that he “would draw a direct and proximate causal link between the” ]awyers" alleged
negligeﬂcc and the damages Auer and Traster suffered. CP at 321-22,

The lawyers moved to strike Brain’s supplemental declaration. Applying the Burnet® |
factors, the trial court found that (1) Bfain’s statement that he had not been asked to opine about
causation in his first declaration reflected a tactical or strategic décision to withhold his opinion
until trial, (2) the willful deéision to Withhold Brain’s opinion prejﬁdiced the defendants’ trial
preparation, and (3) no lesser sanction would vindicate the purposes of Qiscovery. Consequentl'y,

' thg trial court granted the iawyers’ motion and reﬁléed to consider Bfain’s supplemental |
declaration with Auer’s and Traster’s motion for reconsideration. Given the exclusion of Brain’s

supplemental declaration, the trial court denied reconsideration.

3 Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 497-98, 933 P.Zd 1036 (1997).

9
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Auer and Traster appeal the order granting summary judgrﬁent and the order denying
reconsideration. The lawyers cross appeal the order denying them summéry judgment on the
malpractice claim based on the alleged insufficient service of process.

ANALYSIS
I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A. . Applicable Legal Principles

We review a trial court’s decision to grant or deny a motion for summary judgment de
novo. Lakey v. Ruget Sound‘Energy, Inc;‘, 176 Wn.2d 909, 922, 296 P.3d 860 (2013). We
perform the same inquiryl as the trial court and may a;fﬁnn a trial court’s order on summary
judgment on any ground supported by the record. Lakey, 176 Wn.2d at 922; Washburn v. City of
Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 753 n.9, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). We view the evidence, a‘nd all
reasonable inferences allowed by that evidence, in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party when reviewing an order of sﬁmmary judgment. Lakey, 176 Wn.2d at 922. Summary
judgment is appropriate where “there is no genuine issue as to any materiai fact
and . , . the moving party is entitled to a jﬁdgment as a matter of law.” CR 56(c). “‘A material
fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation depends.”™ In re Estate of Black, 153 Wn.2d
152, 160, 102 P.3d 796 (2004) (quoting Balise v. Underwéod, 62 Wn.2d 195, 19§, 381l P.2d 966
(1963)). | |

. “Summary judgment is subject to a burden-shifting scheme.” .Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce
County, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.2d 886 (2008). The party moving for summary judgment
“bears the initial burden of showing the absence of an issue of material fact.” Young v. Key
‘Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). A defendant moving for summary

judgment may show the absence of an issue of material fact by pointing out the lack of evidence ‘

10
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supporting an essential element of the plaintiff’s case. Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225, 225 n.1
'(quoting Celétex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)).
If the defendant successfully shows the lack of support for an essential elemént of the plaintiff’s
claim, the plaintiff must produce evidence that raises a genuine issue of material fact or show
why further discovery is warranted; the plain’cift’s failure to do so entitles the defendant to
judgment as a matter of law. See Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225-26, 226 n.2 (quoting Celotex, 477
US. at332n3 (Brennan, J., dissenting)). ‘
B. The Cross Appeal: Whethér the Malpractice Claim is Time-Barred

The lawyers cross appeal the triai court’s denial of their motion for summary ju&gment to
dismiss the malpractice claim, arguing that Auer ahd Traster failed to timely commence it. First,
they contend that Anderédn Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp were served with a summons that
commenced an action in King County rather than the correct coﬁnty of Snohomish. Second, they
claim that the Snohomish County acti_on was not properly commenced until Auer and Traéter
setved a summions on Leach and ﬁis wife, tirne;bérring the malpractice claim lagainst all

" defendants. The lawyers also argue that the trial court erred by refusing to order summary

judgment on the malpractice claim with respect to Jane Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Knapp because
they weré never sefved with any process. We agree that the trial court erred by not dismissing
the rﬁalpractice claim against Jane Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Kﬁapp, but afﬁrm the order denying
summary judgment on these grounds with respect to Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Doe Leach,
Gibbs, and Knapp.

1. Applicable Legal Principles

Proper service of process has both constitutional and statutory dimiensions. Scanlan v.

Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 847, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014). 'The nonconstitutional dimension, at -

11
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issue here, is governed by both statute and court rules. RCW 4.16.170; chapter 4.28 RCW; CR
3-5. We feview the meaning of statutes and couﬁ rules de novo. Dep 't of Ecology v. Campbell
& Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (statute); see State v. Chhom, 162 Wn.2d
451,458,173 P.3d 234 (2007).(court rules).

Generally a plaintiff must commence an action to recover damages to personal property
or for personal injury within three yearé or the claim is barred.®* RCW 4.16.080(2); Brown v.
Vail, 169 Wn.2d 3 18, 328, 237P.3d 263 (2010). To commence a civil action, the plaintiff must
eifher (1) file the complaint wifh the superior court or (2) serve a copy of the suminons and
complaint on the defendant. CR 3, Filing the complaint or serving the sumrﬁoné and complaint
tolls, for purposes of commencing the action, the statute éf limitations for 90 days. RCW
4,16.170.7 Duﬁng thaf 90-day period the ;;laintiff must either (1) file the complaint if he or she
first served a summons and complaint or (2) serve a summéns and complaint if he or she first
filed the complaint. RCW 4.16.170. If the plaintiff fails to both file the complaint and ls'erve a
summons and complaint withiﬁ that 90-day period, the action is not deemed commenced for

purposes of tolling the statute of limitations, RCW 4.16,170. By the explicit terms of RCW

6 CPA claims are exempt from thlS general rule and instead must be commenced w1thm four
years RCW 19.86.120.

7 RCW4 16.170 reads:

: For the purposes of tolling any statute of limitations an action shall be deemed
commenced when the complaint is filed or summons is served whichever occurs
first. If service has not been had on the defendant prior to the filing of the
complaint, the plaintiff shall cause one or more of the defendants to be served
personally, or commence service by publication within ninety days from the date -
of filing the complaint. If the action is commenced by service on one or more of
the defendants or by publication, the plaintiff shall file the summons and complaint
within ninety days from the date of service. If following service, the complaint is

- not so filed, or following filing, service is not so made, the action shall be deemed
to not have been commenced for purposes of tolling the statute of limitations.

12 -
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4.16.170, serving any one of multiple defendants tolls the statute of limitations against all the
defendants. Sidis v. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 329, 815 P.2d 781 (1991).
However, plaintiffs must still proceed with their cases in a ﬁﬁe]y manner and must serve a
defendant in order to proceed with the action against that defendént. Sidis; 117 Wn.2d at 329-30.

CR 4 governs the form and content of a summons. Quality Rock Prods., Inc. v. Thurston
~ County, 126 Wn. App. 250, 264, 108 P.3d 805 (2005) (cmng CR 4(a) and (b)). It provides, as
relevant to the lawyers’ cross appeal:

(b) Summons.

(1) Contents. The summons for personal service shall contain:

(i) the title of the cause, specifying the name of the court in which the action
is brought, the name of the county designated by the plaintiff as the place of trial,
and the names of the parties to the action, plaintiff and defendant;

(ii) a direction to the defendant summoning the defendant to serve a copy
of the defendant’s defense within a time stated in the summons; [and)]

(iii) a notice that, in case of failure so to do, judgment will be rendered
against the defendant by default. It shall be signed and dated by the plaintiff, or the
plaintiff’s attorney, with the addition of the plaintiff’s post office address, at which
the papers in the action may be served on him by mail,

We review the sufficiency of service de novo., Streeter;Dybdahl v. Nguyet Huynh, 157 Wn, App.
408, 412, 236 P.3d 986 (2010). The plaintiff bears the burden of making a prima facie case of
sufficient service of process. StreeterQDybdahl 157 Wn.. App. at 412,

2. The Nature of the Summons Served on Anderson Hunter, Glbbs and Knapp

If the lawyers are correct that the summonses should be deemed King County
summonses, then Auer and Trastet failed to complete commencement of the Snohomish County
action. If Auer and Traster are cor&ét that the summonses were defective Snohomish Cbunty
summonses, then they completed commencement of the Snohomish County action if they

substantially complied with the rules and statutes governiﬁg service of process. We hold for

13



No. 46105-6-1

three reasons that the summonses were defective Snohomish County summonses and then turn to
whether they nopetheless substantially comi)lied with governing standards.

First, as a general matter, “the law favors the resolution of legitimate disputes bi‘ought
before the court rather than leéving parties without a remedy.” In re Estate of Palucci, 61 Wn.
App. 412,416, 810 P.2d 970 (1991). This lcgai preference may only be served by viewing the
sumnionses as completing the commencement of the Snohomish County action, alfhough
defeétively. Doing otherwise would bar Auer and Tréster from bringing their claims before the
court, Palucci, 61 Wn. App at 416, | |

Second, and more importantly, the lawyers’ argument runs contrary to “the civil rules’
emphasis that substance trumps formality.” Quality Rock Prods.,l 126 Wn. App. at 265. The
lawyers ask us to elevate the form of the caption of the summonses, the obvious result of a
scrivener’s error, over its actual function. Thaf function is readily discernable from the
documents served with the summons: a complaint which made clear that venue was proper only
in Snohomish County and a superior court case summary showing that the action was filed in
Snohomish County. The summonses served here were plainly associated with the action already
filed in Snohomish County. The scrivener’s error in the caption could not have reasonably led

the lawyérs to believe that the summonses were for some unknown action proceediﬁg in King
| County Sﬂperior Court‘. | |

Third, service of a summons only coﬁmencés an action under RCW 4.28.020, theréby
initially invoking the jﬁrisdictioh in the trial court named in the summons, when service occurs
before tile plaintiff files the complaint with the court. Otherwise, it is the filing of the complaint
that invokes the trial court’s jurisdiction. RCW 4.28,020. A summons that commences an action

would not have a cause¢ number because it is only when a complaint is filed with the court that a

14
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cause receives a number. Cf Kramer v. J.I. Cqse Mfg. Co., 62 Wn. App. 544, 548, 815 P.2d 798

- (1991). The summonses served on Anderson Huhter, Gibbs, and Knapp all contained a cause
number, sﬁeciﬁcally the one assigned to the Snohomish County actidn. These summonses céuld
not have commenced an action already commenced, They therefore did not act to confer
jurisdiction on the King County Superior Court. For these three reasons, the summonses served
on Anderson Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp were defective summonses for Snohomish County
Supérior Court.

3. Substantial Compliance and Amendability of the Summonses Served on Anderson
Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp

Having determined that the summonses served on Anderson Huﬁter, Gibbs, and Knapp
were defeﬁtive Snohomish County summonses, we now examine whether the summonses
substantially complied with the relevant rules and statutes and whether the defect in the caption
was amendable. We hold that the summonses substantially complied with the rules and statutes
governing service and that'any defect did not prejudice the lawyers, making the defect
amendable.
The requirements as to the form of a summons laid out in CR 4 ensure that the summons
serves its function, namely “ giv[ing] certain notice of the time prescribed by law to answer and
- to advise the defendant of the consequences of failing to do so0.”” Quality Rock Prods., 126 Wn.
App. at 264 (quoting Sprincin King St. Partners v. s'oﬁhd Conditioning Club, Inc., 84 Wn. App.
56, 60,925 P.2d 217 ( 1996)); Citing these purposes, 'Washington’s Supreme Court has held that
““Talny summons . . ..which deﬁﬁitely and certainly gives notice of these things must bg held a

“substantial, hence a sufficient, compliance with that form.”” Codd v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co.,
14 Wn.Zd 600, 605, 128 P.2d 968 (1942) (quoting Spokane Merch. Ass’nv. Acord, 99 Wash.

674,170 P. 329, 8 A.L.R. 835 (1918)).
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Both court rule® and statutory authority? permit the amendment of defective, but -
subétantially compliant, process. These .amendments are permissible “so long as the defendant is
not prejudiced.” Sammamish Pointe Homeowners Ass'n v. Sammamish Pointe LLC, 116 Wn.
App. 117,124, 64 P.3d'656 (2003). If the defect is amendable, the trial court should permit the
amendment, and deny any motion secking dismissal of the claims based on the defect, so long as
the plaintiff moves to amend. In re'Marriage of Morrison, 26 Wn. App. 571, 573-75, 613 P.2d
557 (1980).

The sMonses served on Anderson Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp substantia]ly complied
with their purpose. The summonses informed the defeﬁdants of the time prescribed by law to
answer and the consequences of a default. Any défect in the summeonses did not prejudice the
lawyers. The complaint not only specified that Auer and Traster had filed suit in Snohomish -
County, but its factual allegations make clear that no venue other than Snohomish County was

proper. The superior court case summary also confirmed that the action was filed in Snohomish -

8 CR 4(h) provides that
At any time in its discretion and upon such terms as it deems just, the
court may allow any process or proof of service thereof to be amended, unless it
clearly appears that material prejudice would result to the substantial rights of the
party against whom the process issued.

? RCW 4.32,250 provides that '
A notice or other paper is valid and effectual though the title of the action in which
it is made is omitted, or it is defective either in respect to the court or parties, if it
intelligently refers to such action or proceedings; and in furtherance of justice upon
proper terms, any other defect or error in any notice or other paper ot proceeding
may be amended by the court, and any mischance, omission or defect relieved
within one year thereafter; and the court may enlarge or extend the time, for good
cause shown, within which by statute any act is to be done, proceeding had or taken,
notice or paper filed or served, or may, on such terms as are just, permit the same
" to be done or supplied after the time therefor has expired.

16
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County. The lawyers appeared pro se in Snohomish County after receiving the summonses.
‘When they retained an attomesz, he appeared there as well. Most importantly, the lawyers timely
filed answers to the complaint filed in Snohomish County Superior Court. As was proper, Auer
and Traster moved to amend the summonses.

The lawyers claim that the trial court erred by allowing an amendment to the sunmonses,
because proper summonses were already on file with the court and Auer and Traster did not
serve those summonses. CR 5(d)(1) reciuires_, in effect, that plaintiffs must file the summons and
coxﬁplaint ser\kd in alccordance with CR 4 with the court. We have held that the summons filed
need not be identical to the one served and that the plaintiff complies wi;[h RCW 4.16.170 by
filing a éummons “substantially identical” to the one served. Nearing v. Golden State Pﬁods
Corp., 52 Wn. App- 748, 752,764 P.2d 242 (1988). The unamended summonses here were
subs£antially identical to the ones on file with the'court: they had the same case name, cause
number, and paﬂies.. More importantly, _thcy had identical response times anci contained
identical language about the effect of a default. The summonses served by Auer and Traster
complied with CR 5(d)(1). For aﬂ of these reasons, we hold that the trial court did not err by
denying the summary judgment motion to dismiss Auer’s and Traster’s claims against Anderson
Huﬁter, Knapp, and Gibbs due to untimely coimnencement. Morrison, 26 Wn App. at 573-75.

4. Sér‘vice on Leach and Jane Doe Leach

Auer and Traster sewéd Leach and Jane Doe Leach with a summons on June 16, 2011.
‘That summons properly listed Snohomish County as the action’s venue, but was served outside
the 90-day tolling period initiated by the filing of the comp]éint under RCW 4.16.170. The

lawyers argue that the Snohomish County action was not properly commenced until this
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summons was served on Leach and Jane Doe Leach and that this time-barred the malpractice
claim against all defendants..

This argument fails under Sidis. That decision held that under RCW 4.16.170, serving
any orie of multiple defendants tolls the statute of limitations against all the defendants, subject
to the restriction that a defendant must in fact be seﬁed before the action may proceed against

. that defendant. Sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 329-30. As held above, Aﬁderson Hunter, Gibbs, and
Knapp were served on April 26, 2011 in compliance with CR 5(d)(1), well within 90 days of
filing the complainf. Leach and Jane Doe Leach were served in June 2011, Before Auer and
Traster procéeded against thém. Thus, under Sidis, Auer and Traster properly qommenced their
action against Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Doe Leach, Gibbs and Knapp.

5. Service on Jane Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Knapp

No affidavit of service or any other evidence shows service of process on Jane Doe Gibbs
or Jane Doe Knaﬁp. Under Sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 329-30, a defendant must be served at some
point to Iﬁaintain an action against her. Therefore, we reverse the order of summary judgment as
far as it denied Jane Doe Knapp and Jane Doe Gibbs dismissal of Auer’s and Traster’s
malpractice claim as time-barred. We remand for the trial court to enter an order granting
sﬁmmary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim agaiﬁst Jane Doe Gibbé and Jane Doe
Knapp on those grounds. | )
C. The Malpractice Claim

| Auer and Traster argue that the frial court erred by dismissing their malpractice claim on

summary judgment because (1) the trial court applied an incorrect evidentiary standard when it

rcquiréd expert testimony on causation to survive the motion for summary judgment and (2) they
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offered evidence that created genuine issues of material fact as to whether the lawyers’
malpractice proximately éaused Auer’s and Traster’s injuries.'® We disagree.!!

1. Applicable Legal Principles

A plaintiff must show four elements to suéceed on a claim of legal malpractice;

(1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship giving rise to a duty of
care on the part of the lawyer; (2) an act or omission breaching that duty; (3) damage
to the client; and (4) the breach of duty must have been a proximate cause of the
damages to the client. :

Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson, 100 Wn. App. 584, 589, 999 P.2d 42 (2000).

Proximate cause provides “the nexus between breach of duty and re_sulting injury.” Estep
v. Hamilton, 148 Wn. App. 246, 256, 201 P.3d 331 (2008). Establishing proximate cause
requires showing that the alleged Ibrea_ch of a duty was both a cause-in-fact and a legal cause of

the claimed injury. Nielson, 100 Wn. App. at 591,

19 Auer and Traster also argue that the trial court erred by granting the lawyers summary
judgment because they failed to show the absence of genuine issues of material fact with
citations to the record as required by White v. Kent Medical Center, Inc., 61 Wn. App. 163, 170,
810 P.2d 4 (1991), The lawyers, however, did point to the record to show that Auer and Traster
had failed to support the essential elements of their claims with evidence.

" The lawyers raise a number of issues related to the dlsmlssal of the malpracuce claim that we.
do not address on their merits.

First, the lawyers argue, for the first tlme on appeal, that the attomey judgment rule that
we recognized in Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App.’

689, 701-04, 324 P.3d 743, review denied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014), shields them from liability.

The lawyers failed to raise this issue to the trial court and we decline to consider it. RAP 2.5(a).

Second, the lawyers also assign error to the trial court’s refusal to exclude certain
evidence. They have waived this assignment of error because they fail to make any argument as
to how or why the trial court erred. Instead, they simply incorporate their trial briefing. We do
not allow parties to argue issues in that manner. U.S. W. Comme 'ns, Inc. v. Wash, Utils, &
Transp. Comm’n, 134 Wn.2d 74, 111-12, 949 P.2d 1337 (1997); Holland v. City of Tacama, 90
Wi. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1988).

Finally, the lawyers give passing treatment to arguments that Auer and Traster have not
supported their claims of damages. Again, we generally do not reach the merits of issues given
passing treatment. Habitat Watch, 155 Wn.2d at 416 (quoting Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 868-69).
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Auer’s and Traster’s appeal concerns the cause-in-fact prong of proximate causation. An
act is a cause-in-fact of an injury, if, “‘but for’” the act, the injury would not have occurrc;,d. Kim
v. Budget Rent A Car Sys., Inc., 143 Wn.2d 190, 203, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001) (quoting Hertog v.
City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 282-83, 979 P.2d 400 (1999)). A cause-in-fact, in other words,
is one that provides an “‘immediate connection between an act and an injury. ”f Nielson, lt)O
Wn. App. at 591 (quoting City of Seattle v. Blume, 134 Wn.2d 243, 251-52, 947 P.2d 223
¢ 997)) Where the injury would occur regardless of any breach by the attorney, there is no “but
for” connection between the breach and the injury; consequently, in malpractice cases the
plaintiff must show that, absent the breach, he or she ““would have prevailed or at least would
have achieved a better re.sult.”’ Estep, 148 Wn. Af)p. at 256 (quoting Halvorson v. .Fergt;son, 46
Wn. App. 708, 719, 735 P.2d 675 (1986)); Geer v. Tonnen, 137 Wn. App. 838, 840; 155P.3d
163 (2007); Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP, 135 Wn. App. 859, 864, 147 Pt3d.‘600 (2006);
Griswold v. Kilpatrick, 107 Wa. App. 757, 760-61, 27 P.3d 246 (2001); see Sherry v, Diercks, 29
‘Whn. App. 433, 438, 628 P.2d 1336 (1981).

2. Expert Testimony

Auer and Traster first contend that lsummary judgment was inappropriate because the trial |
court held them to an improper burden of proof by requiring expért testimony about causation in
order to survive surmary judgment. We dislagree..

Auer and Traster contend that the trial court “did not find . . . that [the] plaintiffs had not
established evidentiaty facts to meet their burden.” Appellant’s Reply Br. at § (emphasis
omitted). Td the contrary, the trial court found no evidence in the record that would directly
show, or allow the inference, that Auer and Ttaster would have prevailed or obtained a better

result in the underlying trial without the defendants’ malpractice. As discussed below, it was
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correct in that assessment. Given that lack of evidence, the trial court concluded that expert
testimony was necessaty to establish causation; otherwise the jury could only find the lawyers
had proximately caused Auer’s and Traster’s losses by pure speculation.

The trial court did not apply an incorrect evidentiary burden. Washington has recognized
that expert testimony is lusually necessary where the jury could otherwise only find an element of
negligence by pure spéculation. See Estate of Bordon v. Dep’t of Corr., 122 Wn. App. 227, 243~
44,95 P.3d 764 (2004), An opinion from Divilsion One of this court, see Geer, 137 Wn. App. at
85 1; and a treatise on legal malpractice, 4 R. Mallen & J. Smiih, Legal Malpractice § 34:20, at
1172 (2008 ed.), have recognized this principle’s application in the context of legal malpractice.

. The trial court’s order on summary judgment reflects the logic of this authority and the principle
thét a plaintiff alleging malpractice must introduce evidénce of each element of his or her claim
to avoid summary judgment, Geer, 137 Wn. App. at 851 n.11.

Auer and Tfaster also contend, in their reply brief, that the trial court érred by requiring
~ expert testimony on causaﬁon becéuse any such testimony would be speculative an'd.
impermissible. Auer and Traster, however, waived this argument by faiﬁng to raise it in their
opening brief.!* Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549

(1992).

12 Regardless, their argument lacks merit, The type of expert testimony the trial court found
necessary given the lack of other evidence of causation is analogous to the type of expert
testimony about causation not only accepted, but generally required, in other types of
professional malpractice claims. E.g., Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D., Inc., 99 Wn.2d 438, 449,
663 P.2d 113 (1983); see Hill v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 143 Wn. App. 438, 448, 117 P.3d 1152
(2008). '
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3. Causation

Auer and ’i‘raster next contend that the'trial court etred by granting summary judgment,
because they created genuine issues of material fact about causation. They contend that they
showed (1) the failure to seek equitable relief, (2) the failure to seek timely discovery, and (3) the
lawyers’ lack of diligence cansed them damages. They also argue that (4) the lawyers’
pretextual withdrawal from representing them so soon before triai required them to retain a new
attorney, resu}ting in higher attorney fees thah they otherwise would have needed to pay. We
c(;nsider these in turn.

: Avuer and T raster did not present sufficient evidence .to create a genuine issue of mateﬁal :
fact that the lawyers’ failure to pursue equitaﬁle relief caused them damages. 'Whilé Brain did
opine that the pﬁrsuit of monetary 'damziges breached the duty of care, he did not opine that this
caused Auer and Traster any injury until his supplemental declaration. That declaration,
lhowever, was not before the trial court at the time of summary judgment, and we cannot consider
. it when reviewing the order on summary judgment. RAP 9.12. Without that declaration, Auer
and Traster fail to create a genuine issué of material fact as to whether they would have prevailed
in the lunderlying action, or at least héve fared better than they did. Further, establishing
causation based on the failure to seek equitable relief réquires Auer and Traster to show that the
trial court would have found their remedies at law inadequate. Sorenson v. Pyeatt, 158 Wn.2d .
523, 531, 146 P.3d 1172 (2006) (equitable.remedies unavailable unless damages atlaw
inadequate). Brain never opined, in his original or supplemental declaration, that monetary
damages were inadequate and Auer and Traster had no difﬁcﬁlty monetizing their losses.
Auer’s and Traster’s second argument, alleging the failure to seck timely discovery, also

fails. Nothing in the record shows ot allows an inference that Auer’s and Traster’s knowledge of
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the underlying defendants’ insurance coverage limits would have affected how the parties would
have proceeded in the underlying suit. Instead, Auer and Traster offer only SpeculationA that the
outcome of the underlying suit would have differed had the lawyers timely obtained discovery.
That speculation is insufficient to create a genuine issue of mateﬁal fact on the element of
causation. Smith, 135 Wn; App. at 864; Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225-26.

Auer’s and Traster’s third argument fares no bette.r. Evidence in the record does create a
genuine issue of material fact as to whether Auer and Traster settled because the lawyers’ lack of
diligence left them without the resources necessary to cohtinue pursuing their claims. There is a
difference, thﬁﬁgh, between the lawyers’ actions causing Auer and Trastér to accept the
settlement and the 1awyers’ actions causing them an injury. Any lack of diligence 6n1y caused
Auer and Traster an injury if they would have received more than the settlement they accepted
had they gone to trial, e.g., Estep, 148 Wn. App. at 256 (quoting Halvorsén, 46 Wn. App. at
i 19), and no evidence indicates or allows the inference that they would have.

Auer’s and Traster’s fourth argument is that Gibbs offéred pretextual reasons for
withdrawing from his representation of the;ll. Brain opined that Gibbs offered those pretexfual
reasons to‘advance the lawyers’ interests, instead of those of Auer and Traster. | Auer and ’fraster
also ﬁoint out that Leach had testified in his déposition that he did not believe the disparity in
daﬁnageé to be a conflict. ) | | .

This evidence, however, does not controvert the validity of Gibbs’ proffered reason for
withdrawal: that the difference between fhe individual amounts at risk for Auer and Traster
created a conflict of interest. Further, an attorney represcﬁting a client in a civil matter may only
withdraw from representation with the peﬁnission of the court if the client objects to the

withdrawal. Kingdom v. Jackson, 78 Wn, App. 154, 158, 896 P.2d 101 (1995); CR 71. The
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attorneys presented the court with their reasons for withdraWing and received the trial court’s
permission over Auer’s and Traster’s objections. Thus, the immediate cause of the withdrawal
was the order of the trial court.

We recognize that Auer and Traster élleged that in his argument on withdrawal Gibbs
" made inaccurate represéntations to the court about Auer’s and Traster’s payment status and their
failure to respohd to his communications. We make no determination of the truth of these
allegations. These representations, hoWever, do not raise factual issues as to whether the -
ass%:rted reason for withdrawal, the presence of a conﬂict, was an attifice or pretext. Rather, at
most they may raise an issue as to the validity of the order of withdrawal. The validity of that
action, though, is not before us,

Auer and Traster raise no genuine issues of material fact about causation as to their
malpractice claim. The court properly entered summary judgment for the lawyers on that claim.
D. The CPA Claim |

| Auer and Traster also contend that the trial court erred by dismissing their CPA claims on
summary judgment because they offered evidence that would create a genuipe issue of material
fact as to (1) whether the lawyets acted deceptively or unfairly in withdrawing from
repreéentation and (2) whether these deceptive or 1_mfair acts affected the public interest. We
affirm the order of summary judgrﬁent on the CPA claim on different grounds, because the
evidence did not raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whethef the lawyers’ actions related
to withdrawal caused Auer and Traster injury.

1. Applicable Legal Principles

The CPA proscribes “[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or

practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.” RCW 19.86,020. The CPA contains a
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private right of action allowing individuals to enforce its proscriptions. RCW 19.86.090.
Success on a CPA c]aiIﬁ requires a plaintiff to establish five elements: “(1) [an] unfair or
decepﬁve act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or comimerce; (35 [a] public interest impact, (4)
injury to [the] plaintiff in his or her business or property[, and] (5) causation.” Hangr.naanidge
Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). The
failuré to .make the necessary showing on any of the elements defeats a CPA claim. Hangman
Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 784. |
| 2. Causation
 For the reasons set out above in the analysis' of the malpractice claim, the lawyets’
withdréwal frorfx representation wés not the proximate cause of iﬁjury to Auer and Traster,  Once
Auer and Traster opposed it, W‘ithdréwal could only be granted by court order. After hearing
from both sides, the trial court granted the withdrawal. Gibbs’ clﬁimed misrepresentations fo the
~ court in arguing for withdrawal may raise a question about the basis for the order, but the validity
of the court’slwithdr;ctwal order is not before us. Because the court ofdéred withdrawal in an
action we must presume valid, the evidence does not show the needed causal link between the
lawyers’ actions and Auer’s and Traster’s increased expenses due to the withdrawal,
We may afﬁmi a chailen ged decision on any grounds s;upported by the record.
- Accordingly, we affirm thé 6rder of summary judgment on the CPA claim. 4
II. RECONSIDERATION
Auer and Traster claim that the trial court improperly (1) excluded Brain’s supplementgl
declaration on reconsideration and (2) denied the motion for reconsideration. Again, we

disagree.
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A, Applicable Legal Principles

We review é trial court’s decision on a motion for reconsideration for an abuse of

discretion. Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn. App. 109, 120-121, 325 P.3d 327 (2014).
| We review a trial court’s “decision to consider new or additional evidenée presented with a

motion for reconsideration” for an abuse of discrétion; Martini v. Post, 178 Wn. App. 153, 162,

313 P.3d 473 (2013). A trial court abuses its discretion where it exercises its discretion in a

manifestly unreasonable mannér or on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. SentiizélC3,
- Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 127, 144, 331 P.3d 40 (2014).

B. Brain’s Supplemental Declaration -

Auer and Traster first contend that the trial court abused its discrétioﬁ when .it refused to
consider Brain's supplemental declaration, which they offered in conjunction wﬁh their motion
for. teconsideration, claiming that nothing in CR 59 or case law interpreting that rule prevented
thel trial court from_ considering new evidence on reconsideration. Auer and Traster correctly
characteriée the trial court’s ability to constder new evidence. The courf, however, excluded
Brain’s supplemental declaration as a discovery sanction: Auer and Traster had not provided
Bfain’s opinion as requifed by the discovery rules until long after the diécbvery cutoff.

In Keck v. Collins, No. 90357-3, 2015 WL 5612829 (Sept. 24, 2015), the Supreme Court
held that the trial court must consider thé factors from Burnet, 131Wn.2d at 497-98; on the
record before striking untimely filed evidence submitted in respdnse to a summary judgment
motion. Keck, No. 90357-3,2015 WL 5612829 at *8. Our review of the trial court’s decision is

_ for an abuse of discretion. Id. Only in‘ their reply brief do Auer and Traster cite Burnet or argue

that the trial court erred by excluding Brain’s supplemental declaration as a discovery sanction.
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Under Cowiche Canyon Conservancy, 118 Wn.2d at 809, Auer and Traster waived this claim of
error by failing to raise it until their reply brief.

C. Denial of Reconsideration

Without Brain’s supplemental declaration, any new evidence considered by tﬁe trial court
did not change the analysis of the causation issue: nothing before the court on reconsideration
showed that Auver and Traster would likely have prevailed or oBtained a better result in the
~underlying matter. With that; any claim of malpractice fails for lack of evidence to suﬁport the
causation element, and reconsideration was unwarranted. Cf. Martini, 178 Wn. App. at 164
(reconsideration of summary judgment waxrénted where all the evidence before the court
establishes a genuine issue of fnaterial fact). |

CONCLUSION

We affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judgmgnt in favor of the lawyers on the
malpractice and CPA claims. We also affirm the trial court’s order striking Brain’s supplemental
declaration and iis order denying reconsideration of the malpractice claim. On the cross-appeal,
we affirm the trial court’s denial of summary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim against
Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Doe Leach, Gibbs and Knapp as time-barred, but reverse the trial
court’s denial of summary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim agéinst Jane Doe Gibbs
and Jane Doe Knapp on the same grounds. Accordingly, we remand for the trial court to enter an

order granting summary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim against Jane Doe Gibbs and
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‘Jane Doe Knapp as time-barred.
A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the
* Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW

2.06.040, it is s0 ordered..

We concur:

5 1

Autom, |

SUTTON, J.
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Filed -
Washington State
Court of Appeals
- Division Two

- January 12, 2016

"IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II
RONALD AUER and JOHN TRASTER, . No. 46105-6-1

Appellants/Cross Respondents,

ORDER DENYING RECONSIDERATION:

AND AMENDING OPINION
V.

 J.ROBERT LEACH and JANE DOE LEACH,
his wife; CHRISTOPHER KNAPP and JANE
DOE KNAPP, his wife; GEOFFREY GIBBS
" and JANE DOE GIBBS, his wife; ANDERSON | -
HUNTER LAW FIRM, P.S., INC.; and
SAFECO INSURANCE,

Respondents/Cross Appellants.

- The appellants filed 5 motion for reconsideration of the unpublished opinioh filed on
October 27; 2015. After review, it is hereby -
4 ORDERED that appellants’ motion for reconsideration is denied; it is further
ORDERED that the filed unpublished opinion is amended as follows:
On page 26, Tines 14 — 16, the followfng text is deleted: |

The court, however, excluded Brain’s supplemental declaration as a discovery
sanction: Auer and Traster had not provided Brain’s opinion as required by the
_discovery rules until long after the discovery cutoff.

On page 26, line 14, the following text is inserted in its place:
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The court, however, excluded Brain’s supplemental declaration as a discovery
sanction: Auer and Traster had not provided Brain’s opinion until they moved for
reconsideration of the court’s decision on summary judgment despite having all
information necessary to provide that opinion with their response to the summary

judgment mot1on

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Panel: Jj. Bjorgen, Lee, Sutton

DATED this m_day of January, 2016. |

We concur;

2T

145, 7.
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Filed

Washington State
‘Court of Appeals
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHIN GTOMNsion Two
DIVISION II ~ . October 27, 2015
RONALD AUER and JOHN TRASTER, No. 46105-6-T1

Appellants/Cross Respondents, ,
' - UNPUBLISHED OPINION
V.

J, ROBERT LEACH and JANE DOE LEACH,
his Wlfﬁ, CHRISTOPHER. KNAPP and JANE
‘DOE KNAPP, his -wife; GEOFFREY GIBBS
and JANE DOE GIBBS, his wife; ANDERSON
HUNTER LAW FIRM, P.S., ING; and
SAFECO INSURANCE,

Respondents/Cioss Appellarits.

BIORGEN, A.C.J, —Ronald Auerand John Traster sued the Anderson Hunter Law Firm
P.$., J. Robert Leach,' Jane Doe Leach, Geoffrey Gibbs, Jane Doe Gibbs, Christopher Knapp,

and Jane Doe Knapp (-colleotiver 1awyers2) alleging legal malpractice and violation of

Was”hmgton s Cnnsumcr P;cotectaon Act (CPA), chapter 19 86 RCW The t:rnal court ﬁrst demed

the lawyers® summary Judgment motion seeking dlsxmssal ofthe malpractxce cla;m a5 time-

" ‘barred under RCW 4.16.080(2). 'Ihe'tria‘l courtthen g'ranted the lawyers™ motion fo'r SUMROACY
Judgment on both the malpractlce and CPA cla1ms, determimng that Auerand 'I‘raster failed to
Taise genuine issues of material fact on essenual elements of each clainy. After Aver-and Traster

moved for reconsideration én the malpractice claim and filed a 'supplemental declaration by their

1'Leach’s representatxon of Auer and Traster in the’ underlymg suit involved in this appeal began
‘when'he was in private practice and ended with his appointment to an.open position on Division _
One of the Court of Appcals.

2 Ye refer to individuals by namé when discussing claims pertaining only to them.
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expert, Paul Brain, the trial court struck this declaration and denied reconsideration of.i;cs order
dismissing the malpractice claim. |

Auer and Traster appeal, arguing that the grant of summary judgment in favor of the
lawyers 'wa$ imprdper, becatise genuine issues of matéri,al,fact existas to Wh;ethkei: the laWyers" |

alleged malpractice proximately -caused Aver and Traster their injuries and whether the lawyers

' committed deceptive acts that affected the public inferest. Auer and Traster also argue that the.

~ “trial dourt erred or abused its discretion by refusing to consider the riew evidence offered on

reconsideration and by denying their motion for reconsideration. The lawyers cross-appeal the_

trial court’s denidl of their summary judgment motion to dismisg the malpractice claim on

grourids of untimeliness, |

We-affirm the trial court’s grant of summary judg;menf in favor of the .Iaw&ers on the
malpractice and CPA claims. We also.affirm the trial court’s order shikiug Brain’s supplementa‘l
declaration and its order desying teconsidération of its suminary judgment order on the

malpractice claim. As to the cross-appeal, we affirm the trial court’s deriigl of summary

juc_igment'-!di‘smissmg'theemalpraotic.es clain against Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Do Leach; - -+
" (Hibbs and Knapp as time-barred. However, ‘we reverse the trial court’s denial of summary

fudgment dismissing the mafpractice claim against Jane Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Knapp as tire-

barred. Accerding’ly, we afficm in pait, reverse in part, and rémand for the trial court to enter an

order granting summary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim against Jane Doe Gibbs and

Jane Doe¢ Knapp.

FACTS

A, The Underlying Lawsuit

B In 20(.).3,,, Aﬁer-énd Traster purchased two lots to “constroct ﬁpp‘er sedle gingle famﬂy .
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residences, as well as large commercial quality shop structures.”® Clerk’s Papers ,(CP:) at441.
Auer Wmted his commercial shop to operate his business in; Traster 'Wa;n"ted ‘his for the pursuit of
Hyarious activities and hobbies,” CP at 441. |

The ‘agrecmeﬁts for the purchase and sale of the lots each xéqﬂired the éeller;, the estate of
‘Margaret Westland, to obtaiﬁ ,certainti)emﬁts‘ and construct a driveway to the properties within
60 days of closing escrow. After closing, the estate began constructing that driveway. However,
the 'es'tété‘féiled to obtéin fche. necessary pemit's ainti the driveway di& not conform fo the
Snohomish County Code, causing .ﬁlelzcéunty to issue a stop work ordet for the project. That |
.o.r'd'erl, along with the lack of aﬁ ".‘approxlfued access road™ to the twe ;pmpértiesi_, rendered the
properties ineligible for building perrnits and disrupted Auer’s and Traster’s plans for the lots. ‘

Auer and Traster retainedl Leach and the Anderson Hunter Law Firm to pursue legal

claims against-the Westland estate, the realtor who diafted the purchase and salé agreements, and

. therealtor’s employer. Auer and Traster filed suit for breach of contract against those

defendants in 2003,

[y »

o Aner’s and Traster’s teélationship with Leachwasa difficult one; Aner and Traster -~

frequently complained to-Christopher Knapp, Anderson Hunter’s mapaging partner, about
perceived failures to-communicate, to take requested action, and to diligently pursue their claims.

Knapp assured Auer and Traster that Leach would do a better job bbmfnun'ic#ﬁng with ther and

3 Traster apparently purchased both lots and Aver then purchased his from Traéter. The 'lawyeris
argue that this makes Auer Traster’s assignee and limits the lidbility of the lawyersinthe
underlying suit, and consequently their liability. Because the lawyers give the issue only passing

treatment, we do not address it. Habitat Watch v. Skagit County, 155 Wn.2d 397, 416, 120P3d ~

56 (2005) (quoting State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 868-69, 83 P.3d.970 (2004)).
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promised that he would monitor the situation. 'Nevertheﬂe,ss, Auer and Traster became
dissatisfied with Knapp’s monitoring of Leach’s work.

‘The acrimony between Lieach, Knapp, Auer, and Traster eventually caused Anderson.

Hunter to try to end the attorney-client relationship. Knapp e-mailed Leach, telling him that

“It]his client i very mude. Twould withdraw.” -CP at 470. Kanapp also repeatedly told Auer.and

. 'Traster that they might want to seek representation that would work better for them, but they

B refused.

By 2005, the estate had filed - motion for summary judgment. Leach recommended.that

 Auer and Traster voluntarily dismiss the suit under CR. 41 to avoid summary judgment and then

zefile the claim as a new lawsuit. Auer and Traster maintain that Leach’s lack of preparation
necessitated the honsuit, but they agreed to the plan. Accordingly, the original suit was
-dismissed and a new one filed in 2006,

.Effectivé March 1, 2008; the governor appointed Leach to an open seat on Division One

of the Washington State Court of Appeals. Accordingly, Leach wifhdrew from representing

At and Ttaster;” However, they remained Anderson Funter's clients and Geofrey Gibbg; -~~~ = -

another attorney from the firm, began neprcsenfing them.

Later in March, Gibibs informed Auer and Traster hat his pretrial preparations hati
‘ihcovered -é potential conflict of interest that comﬁlic’;‘atcd his ropresentatidn of both of them.*
Auer and Traster told Gibbs that they had alrea&y disoussed the potential conflict with Leach and

bad “come to an agreement to resolve” it. ‘CP at-444,

4 The alleged conflict of interest arose from the disparate size of Auer’s dnd Traster’s-claims.

_ Traster claimed a small amount of damages related to inconveniences caused by the delay in. -

getting the building permits. Auer claimed similar damages plus large business losses. ‘Gibbs
informed Auer and Traster that the difference in the vahi¢-of their claims created & potettial
confliot in deciding whether to accept any possible settlement offer.

i
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Gibbs announced that Auer and Traster had failed to address his concerns and served a
notice of withdrawal to tetminafe his and Anderson Hunter’s répresentatioﬁ of thein. When Auer
and Trastor objected to the withdrawal, 'G'rib,b‘s filed a motion before the §upedor court, which
' then granted the.withdrawal. | | |

- Auer and Ttastelr eventually tetained new counsel to represent therh. Gibbs bad
previously informed Auer and Traster that, after taking over representation ;»f, them for Leach, he
'wouldl only need to bill appr'mdma"tely $50,000 in order to take ﬁ;e matter 'fhrough. trial. Auer
«and Traster’s new counsel billed Lhem approximately $200,000 fortime spent preparmg for, and
taking them to, a scheduled mediation, .

The mediation resulied in a settlemerit between Aueér and Traster and the defendants in
the underlying suit. Although Aner apd Traster val’ue;i their claims as worth over $85600;000,
they received only $500,000 in the settlement and a construction easement so that ithey-could,l get
apermit and complete the road required by the ﬁurt‘;hase and sale.agreemient. .Auer maintaing

 thathe and Traster settled because the protracted legal battle caused by the defendants™ lack of

** diligence bad-drained them of the financial resources riecessary to continue'to assert their claimy; = -

B.  The Lawsuit Against the Lawyers

On ‘Febmafy' 14,201 1, Auer and Traster-appeared pro se and filed summorises and a
~ comiplaint in -Shohomish-County ~S@pefior .Cou‘rt'.. Thiese named .Andersoﬁ.JHuntex, Leach arid his
wife, Gibbs and his ‘Wi'fe, and Kﬁapp and his wife as-defendants. |

The -comp’laint’s first caﬁse' of action was .malpra.ctice. Auer and Traster alleged:

That the said Defendants failed to fully advise Plaintiffs of their rights and
appropriate tactics and strategy, ‘failed to diligently pursue. the litigation, had
undisclosed conflicts of interest, served their own interest at the expense of the

Phaintiffs, failed to pursue necessaty discovery, failed to prepare the case for trial, . ... ... ...

necessitated dismissal of the 2003 case and refiling of the 2006 case, then withdrew
from the 2006 case in 2008 as trial approached, made multiple misrepresentations

3
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to Plaintiffs and claimed a wrongfully asserted conflict of interest between the two
Plaintiffs herein as justification for withdrawal, That Defendants refused to
disgorge payments wrongfully received and Plaintiffs were impaired in retaining
replacement counsel and incurred additional litigation expenses as a- consequence- .
of the withdrawal of said Defendants,

CP at 1133,
The complaint’s second cause of action was for violation of the CPA, Auer and Traster
alleged: |
That the said Defendants’ conduct set forth above was unfair and deceptive:
within the meariing of the Consumer Protection Act, implicated the entreprenciiial
aspects of the practice of law, is likely 10 be repeated, and consntuted business
practices ofthe Defendants.
CP at. 1134,
In April 2011, Ayer and Traster retained new counsel and on April 26 served the
summonses, complaint, notice.of appeararice, and the superior court case summary printout on

Anderson Hunter, Leach, Gibbs, and Knapp. However, the summenses and the: notice of

.appeafance were mistakenly. captioned for King County Supetior'Coutt, The superior coutt case

- suminiary showed the setion as filed i =Smhtshﬁsh County;On April 29; dise to an itapending " ="

scheduled vacation, Auer’s and Trasters counsel filed a notice of unavailability lisfci'ng the
' _ ‘Snohomish ~Counft;y cause numiber of Augr’s and Traster’s action sewedm ‘the defendants.

The l'lawyers -ser.w;,d a special fiotice of -app,éaranc.‘e. captioned for Snohomish County
§up:eri’or=Court_:'on May 4,2011, Further, the lawyers’ counsel served 5ﬁoﬁce of withdrawal and
substifution .captioﬁed for Snlohomi-sh"C.ounty‘Supel‘iér'Court' on the parties and filed it in the -
Snohemish County Superior Court,

In early June 2011, the lawyers filed 2 motion to dismiss the action; They alleged thai

Ader and Traster had failed to properly serve-fhem with process, wartanting dismissalunderCR =
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12(b)(4) and (5). ‘Specifically, the lawyers contended that Anderson Hunter, 5Gi’bbs, -and ‘Kﬁaﬁp
had never been served with a Snohomish County sumimons aé Tequired to cothplete .
commencement of the action and that Leach and the three Jane Doe defendants had never been
served with any process at all

On June 16, 2011, the lawycrs counsel accepted service of 2 summons and- complamt oil
behalf of Leach and his wife. That summons listed Snohomish County as the action’s yenue,

With the service o.f a Snohomish ‘County summons on Leach and ms wifé, the lawyers
- struck their original motion to dismiss and filed a motion 'fm‘.sx'lmmary,judgment seeking
dismissal of ﬁl.e‘. malpragtice ol'aﬁn as time-barred under RCW 4.16.080(2). The lawyers argued
that the suminohses served on, Anders.dn Huntet, Gitibs, and Knapp began commencement of an - -
action in King County rather than completed commencement of the action in ‘Snohomish County.
They contended that the Snohomish County action was. nex}er fully commenged as required by |

RCW -4.16'.17 (-until sérv'ice- of the summonses-on Leach and his wife, which occurred sutside
| both the fhree-year statute of ‘lim'i‘tgﬁons generally aﬁp;ligable to-tort claims and the 90-day 'tdlﬁng
~period initiated by the filing of the A.comp‘laint'under RGW 4,16.170.

"The triaf coust =.ﬂehieél'the lawryers’ swnmar,yjﬁdgﬁwnt motion requesting dismissal of the |
‘malpractice clmm as time-barred, reasoning iﬁa’t the $Mmonses :sub.sténtially'.complieci with the
governing rules and that the failure to coiréctly idenﬁiythe court 'was dn aimendable defect.
Becaise the summonses served their purposes, namely nofifying the lawyers of‘the deadiine to
‘ans'wet-Auer";s and Traster’s complaint and of the consequences for failing to do so, the trial
court found that the defeét in the sumtnonses did not prejudice the lawyers. -Giv.én the Tack-of

prejudice, the trial court granted Auer and Traster leave to amend the summonses to comectly
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identify Snohomish County, rather than King County, as the court where they would litigate the
| -action.

The lawyers then moved for summary judgment on both Auer’s and Traster’s claims,
.contending thatno ‘genﬁine' issues of material fact existed on at Jeast two of the elements '6f legal
mialpractice; the breach of a 'leéa’l-dut-y and causation, The 1awy§rs also maintained that no |

genuine issues of material fact existed on at least fhree of the elements of the CPA claim: that
| their acts had ocenrred in trade or commerce, that their acts impacted the publicinferest, and that
‘ﬂléir acts hac‘li ‘been tnfit. |

‘Aﬁ,er and Traster responded by submitfing .ad&iﬁona‘l evidence'tﬁat' they cla@e& showed
the existence of genuine issues of 'mﬁterial féo‘t, including.a declaration by their éxgett,'Paul
Brain. Afterreciting the e’lements of alegal malpractice claim, Brain sfated that he assumed the
existence of anatt'dmey«cliént’ relationship that wéul& create a duty of 'car.e,, but that “[clausation
' _ may né.t be a proper subject for [his] opi'n‘ioﬁ.?" CP at 600. Brainthen opined that the lawyers

Tad breached their duty of care by pursuing legal remedies rather than equitable ones, given

- Avier’s and Traster’s poals with the suitz"‘Brfain' als'o' feclared that the Tawyers kad breached their s

duty 'o:f care’by failing to. diligentﬁly pursue.Auer’s and "Erastgr"s:'interests., failing to engage in
timely discovery, and recommending tha:t‘A.u_er, and Traster take 4 nopsuit to :avqid' summary
jﬁd'gment. Finally, Brain opined that Gibbs’ proffered reasons for withdrawing as cotnsel weis
pretextual. | | |

| The trial court granted the lawyers’ motion for summary judgment on both bf Auer’s and
Traster’s clainis, 'Thoﬁgh finding that Brain’s declaration raised genuine issues of material fact
about several 'bmadhcs of duty by the Tawyers, the trial court found no evidence that indicated or

' supporfed an inference that any breach caused Aver’s and Traster’s injuries. Specifically, the =
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trial court determined that Auer and Traster had failed to create a genuine.'issue of material fact
regarding whether they would have succeeded in the mdeflﬁng action dbsent the alleged . .
malpractice. The trial court granted the motion for summary judgment on the CPA claim 'after
&etennining that Auerand Traste;t had failed to estaialish thg't the withdrawal had affected the

. public intetest, | |

Auer and Traster tnoved for recox}sitfieraﬁ'on under CR 59(a)(1), (7)-(9) on the
malpracﬁce claim, submitting new evidence in.conjur.lét‘ion‘wi;th that mofion. One of these new
pieces of evidence was a supplemental declaration fmm.'Braiﬁ. Tn it Brain stated that “[tThe fact
that [he] did ot address.cansation in [His] previous declaration only represent[ed] the fact that
[he] was not asked to offer an opinien on cdusation in that deél’aiatibh.‘.” CPat321. B’raiﬁ then
declared that he “would draw a direct and proximate causal fink between the” lawyers’ alleged
'négligence and the da‘ma;gés Auer and Traster suffercc} CP at 321-22.
~ The lawyers moved to strike Brain’s supplemental declaration, Applying the Burnes

Factors, thetrial.conrt found that (1) Brain’s statement that he had not been asked to apine about

*causation in his first declaration reflected a tactical or .stra'tegic decision o withbold his opigio

umntil 'trial, (2) the willfol decision .towiﬂ:hold Brain's -ppi'gxion prejudiced the defendants’ trial
preparation, and (3) no lesser sanction woﬁlé vmdibatg the purposes of discovery. Consgqucn.tly.,
the trial court granted the ?lawyers"".méﬁon and refused to vcbnslider Braii’s ‘supplemental
declaration with Aﬁeri ’s and Traster’s motion for reconsideration, Given the exclusion of Brain’s A

supplemental declaration, the trial couirt denied reconsideration.

S Btirnet v. Spokane Ambﬁlance_, 131 Wn.2d 484, 497-98, 933 P.2d 1036:(1997).
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Auer and Traster appeal the order granting summary judgmént and the order denying
reconsideration. The lawyers ctoss appeal the order dénying them s‘ummaz& judgment on the
malpractice claim based on the alleged insufficient service -of process. |

ANALYSIS
1. ‘SUMMARY JUDGMENT
.A. Applicable i,g gal Principles

‘We review atrial court’s decision to grant or dény a motion for summary judgment de
novo, Lakey v. f.t_tge.t Sound Energy, Ine., 176 Wn.2d 909, 922,296 P.3d 860 (2013). 'We
petform thie same inquiry as the trial court and imay affirm a trial -courf.’s’ order on summary
judgment-on any ground supported by .t:he ':recoxd. Lakey, 176 Wn.2d at 922; .Washburn w-City of |
Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 7.3:2-, 753 n.9, 311'0 P.3d 1275 (2013). We view the evidence, and all
reasonable inferences allowed by ihat evidehce_, in the light most favorable.to the nonmoving
party when reviewing an order of summary judgment. Lakey, 176 Wn2d at 922. ‘Summary

judgmentis appropriate where “there is no geouine issue as to any'material fact

and . the moving party is enfitled to a judgment as & matter of law,” CR 56(c). ““A material .

 -fact is one upon which the outcome of the iiﬁgaﬁon depends”” In re Egtate of Black, 153 Wn.2d
152,160, 102 I?.de'z% (2004} (quoting Balise v. Undérwood, 62 Wn.2d IéS', 199, 381 P.2d 966
ases). |
‘ “‘Summaﬁ judgment is subject to4a burden-shifting scheme.” Ranger Ins. Co. v, Pierce
| Counb;, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192 P.2d 886 (2008). The party moving for summary ,judgm\ex;t.
“pears the initial burden -of ‘showling the dbsence of an‘issue of material fact.” J’oz,mg v, Key
Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d. 216 225,770 P.2d 182 (1989) A defendant movmg for summary

]udgment may show the absence of an issue of materml fact by pomtmg out the laok of evidence

10
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supporting an essential element of the plaintiff’s cas;e, Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225, 225 nl
(quoting Celotex Corp, v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322,106 §. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1986)).
If the defendant successfully éhows the lack of support for an essential element of ihe,plaint‘iff’s
claim, the plainﬁff must producé evidence that raises 2 genuine issue of ﬁateﬁal fact or show
why furfherl'disoovery i$ warranted; the plaintiff’s failure to do so ‘.ent'ltles the defendant to |
judgment as a matter of law, .S-ee Young, 112 WnZdat 225-26, 226 n.2 (quoting Celotex, 477

1.8, at 332'n.3 (Brennan, 1., dissenting)).

B.  ‘The Cross Appeal: Whether the Malpractice Claim is Time-Barred
o The lawyers cross appeal ithel trial court’s denial of their motion for :sumaxy,fjﬁd‘gm&nt to

lismiss the malpractice claim, arguing that Aiier and Traster failed to timely commence 'it.' First,
they contend that Anderson Hunter, Gibibs, and Knapp were sgﬁed with a summoﬁs that
commenced an action in King Courity rather than the correct county of -S.noholmish. Second, they
claim that the Snohomish County actioh was not properly commence:d mﬁl Auer and Traster
served a summons on Leach and his wife, time-barting the malpractice -g'laim against all
“ defendants.” The lawyers:alse argue that the trial court erred by refusing to order Summary -
_] udgment on the malpractice claim with respect-to ‘jape Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Knapp because,
they were never served with ény ptocess. We agree that the trial court erred by not-dismissing
the ma'lpracticé claim against Tane Doe Gitibs and Tarie Doe Knapp, but affirni the order denying:
summary judgment"on fheé.e grounds with respect to Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Doe Leach,
‘O"ibbs, -and Knapp. ‘ |

1.. Applicable Legal‘ﬁPrindip‘les

Proper service of ‘process has both 'constitutipna‘l and statutory dimension's. Scanlan v,

- Townsend, 181 Wn.2d 838, 847, 336 P.3d 1155 (2014). The nonconstitational dimension, at

11
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issue here, is go.Qémed by both statute and court ﬁﬂes. RCW 4.1 6.;17 0; chapter 4.28 RCW; CR
3.5, We review the meanirig of statutes arid court rules-de .nov.o. Dep't of Ecqlogy v. Campbell. .
& Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002) (statute); see State v. Chhom, 162 Wn.2d
| 451, 458, 173 P.3d 234 (2007) (court rules).A
Generally a plaintiff must commence an ac‘ti.on to recover _d'émagés to personal property
or for personal injury within three yeats or the claim is barred.® RCW 4.16.080(2); Brown v,
fVa;‘l, 169 Wn.2d 318, 328, 237 P.3d 263 (2010). To commence 2 civilécﬁ‘on, the plaintiff must
either (1) file the complaint with the superior.court or (2) serve a copy of the sumnc'mns»and
' 'complain't on the defendant. -CR 3. Filing the complaint or serving the summons and complaint
tolls, for purposes of commencing the acfilon,, the statute of limitations for 90 days. RCW
4. 16.170.7 During that 90-day period the plaintiff must either (1) file the complaint if he or she
.ﬁrst served a summons and cotnplaint or (2) serve a summons and .comp]a'in-t if he or she first
filed the complaint. RCW 4.16,170. If the plaintiff fails to both file the complaint and sefve a

suwmmons and. complaint within that 90-day period, the action is not deemed commenced for

= plirposes of tolling the statute:of limitations: RCW4.16,170." By the explicit terms of RCW - e

s CPA clalms are eXempt from, this general rule and instead must be commenced within four
years, RCW 19.86.120.

"RCW 4.16.170 reads:

For the purposes of tolling any statute of limitations an"action shall be deemed
commenced when the complaint is filed or summons is served whichever occurs
first. If setvice has not been had on the defendant prior to the filing of the
complaint, the plaintiff shall cause one or more of the defendants to be served
personally, or commence service by publication within ninety days from the date
of filing the complaint. If the action is commenced by service on one or mote of
the defendants or'by publication, the plaintiff shall file the summons and.complaint
- within ninety days from the date of service. If following service, the complamt is
" nat so filed, or following filing, service is not so made, the action shall be desmed

. to not have been commenoced for-purposes of tolling the. statute of limitations;

12
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4.16.170, serving any one of multiple defendants tolls the staéute of 1imi.taﬁo1'1s, é‘gamst all the

defendants. Sidisv. Brodie/Dohrmann, Inc., 117 Wn.2d 325, 329, 815 P.2d 781(1991). . . ..

However, plaintiffs must still proceed with their cases in:a timely manner.and must serve a

" deferidantt in order to proceed with the action aga'irist thatdefem‘iantp Sidis, 117 Wn.2d. at 329-30.
| CR 4 governs the. form and content of a summons. -Quality Rock Prods., Inc. v. Thurston

County, 126 Wn. App..250, 264, 108 P.3d 805 (2005) (citing CR 4(a) and (b)). It provides, a5

rﬁlex;ant o the lawyers’ eross \aﬁpeah |

{b) Summons.

(1) Ceritents. The suminons Tor personal service shall contain:

(i) the title of the cause, specifying the name of the court in-which the action
is brought, the name of the county designated by the plaintiff:as the place of trial,
and the names. of the parties 'to the action, plainﬁff and defendant
of the defandant*s defénse within a time stated in the summons, [and]

(iii) a notice that, in case of failure so to do, judgment will be fendered
against the defendant by default, It shall besigned and dated by the plaintiff, or the
plaintiff’s attorney, with the addition of the plaintiff’s post-office address, at which
the papers in the actmn may be served on him by ma11

 Wereview the ='sufﬁciency of service de novo. rStreet-e-r—Dybdahl' v. Nguyet Huynh, 157 Wn. App.

408, 412,236 P-.3d;---9816 (2010). The plaintiff bears the burden:of making a-prima facie case of
sufficient s'erv:'ice.‘ofpmce’ss. Streeter-Dybdahl, 157 Wn. App. at412.

2. The Nature of the Summons Served on Anderson Hunter, Gibbs, and Khapp

If the lawyers are correct that the summonses should ﬁe deemed King County
summonses, then Auer and Traster failed 'té eoffxﬁlete commencement of ‘the Snohomish County
action, If 'Au& and Traster are correct that the summonses were defeciive Snohomish County
~sﬁmmon3es, then they completed commencement of the ‘Snohornish County action if they

_ substantially complied w’it’h the rules and statutes governing service of process. We hold for

13



No. 46105-6-II

thrée_ reasons that the .sun;monses were defective Snohomish-County summonses and then turn to
. whether they nonetheless substantially complied 'with governing standards.

First, as a general matter, “the. law favors the resolution. of legitimate disputes brought
.'before the court rather ﬁmp leaving parties withoﬁtla remedy.” Inre Estét.e of Paiuqai,' 61 Wn.
App. 412, 416, :81 0P2d970 (1 991 ). This legal preference may only be served by viewing the
summonses as completing the commeneement of the Spohomish:County acﬁioﬁ,l although
+ -defectively. Doing otherwise would bar Aua,r and Traster from bringing their claims before the
court. Palucci, 61 Wn. App.at416, |

‘Second, and more importantly, t_he.:. lawyers® ;argmnent xuns con&qry to “the civil rules?
emphasis that substatice tramps YOnna;lity.;’ Quality Rock Prods., 126 Wn, App; at 265, The
lawyers ask us to elevate the form of the caption of the suﬁmmonses, the obvious result of a
scrivener’s error,-over its actual function, That function is readily discemable from the
documents S‘ervc:d with the simmons; a complaint which made clear that venue was proper only

in Snchomish County-and asuperior court case summary showing that the action-was filed in

- Snohonish Cownty. - The summonses seived here werg plainly associated Wwith the actio alrgady ~- o

filed inSnohorish County. 'iThg scrivener’s error in the caption could not have 'xéasén,ably led
the lawyers to believe that fhe summonses were for some unknown action ,pmceeding m King
County Supeérior Court. |
Third, service of a summons oﬁly commences an action under RCW 4.28.020, thereby
. initially invoking the jurisdiction.in the tridl court named in the summons, when -servic.é?e occurs
before fhe plaintiff files the -compiaint with the court. Otherwise, it is the filing of the corplaint:
that invokes the trial court’s jurisdiction, RCW 4.28,020. A summons that commences an action

" "would not iave a cavse numiber because it 4s only when a complaint is filed with the court thata

14
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céﬁse receives a number, CGf. Kramer v. J.1. Case Mfz. .Co.; 62 Wn. App. 544, 548, 815 P.2d 798
(1991).. The suimmnonses served.on Andlerspn‘Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp all contained a cause
-numﬂer, specifically the one assigned to the Snohomish County action, These summonses could
not have commenced an action ~alxeaAy .comnienéed. They therefore did not.act 'té confer
jurisdicﬁOn on the King County Superior Court. For thése three reasos, the summonses served
on Anderson Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp were deféctive summonses for Snohomish County
‘Superior Court, |

3. Substantial Compliance and Amendability of the Summonses Served on Anderson
Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp

" Having determined that the‘ summeonses served on Anderson 'Huntcr, Gibbs, and Knapp
were deféctive Sﬁohémis’h "Counlty summonses, we how examing whether the summonses
fsubstantiaiiy-qomplieﬁl with the relevant rules and statutes and Whe_ther the de’fecf. in the -caption
- ‘was amendable. Weihol,éi that the -sulﬁmonses stbstantially comp‘iied with the rules and statutes
governing service and that any defcét did not prejudice the lawyers, making the defect

amendable. . .

The requirements as'to the form of'a sirnmons laid out in CR 4 énsure that the summons
serves its function, namely “*giv[ing] certain notice-of the time prescribed by law to answer and
to.advise the defendant of ‘the cansequences of failing to do so.""’-' Quality Rock Prods., 126 W,
App. at 264 (quoting Sprincin King St. Partners v. Sound Conditioning Club, Inc., 84 Wa. .Appf.
56; 60, 925 P.2d 217 (1996)). Citing t'hese.purposés, Washington’s Supreme Court has held that
“lalny sﬁrﬁmons . .. which definitely and certainly gives notice o'f'lﬂ_mese things must be held a
=subst'an,ﬁa1, hence a sufﬁdient, Acor'npfl'iance. with that form.” Codd v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co.,
14'Wn.2d 600, 603, '1_'.2‘8 P.2d 968 (1 942) (guot'fihg Spokane Merch. Ass'nt v. Aéérd, 9 Wash.
674, 170 P. 329, 8. A L.R. 835 (1918)).

15



"No. 46105-6-11

Both court rule® and statutory authority? permit the amendment of defective, but
substantially -éompli'ant,‘ process. These amendments are pennissiijle “s0 Jong as the defendant is
not prejudiced.” Sammamish Poz'ﬁte Homeowners Ass 'nv. Sammamish Pointe LLC, 116 Wn.
App. 117, 124,64 ?;3d 656 (2003). If the defect is ameridable, the trial couﬁ sh,ould permit the
'amapdmem, and deny any motion seeking disrizissal of the claims based on the defect, so long as
the plaintiff moves to amend. Jn re .Marr’iage: of Morrison, 26 Wn. App. 571, 573-75, 613 P.2d
557(1980). - |

The summonses s.er;red on Andex;SQn Hunter, Gibbs, and Knapp substantially complied
with their purpose, The summonses informed the defendants of the time prescribed by law to
answer and the consequences of a:default. .Any defect in the surhmonses did not prejudice the
lawyers, T'h,e' complaint not only-specified that Auer and Traster had filed suit in Snohomish
County, but its factnal allegations .make' clear that no venue other that Snchomish Cournty was

proper. The superior court case summary alsa confirmed that the action was filed in Snohomish

e 8 CR 4(h;) Prowdes that D T e L LT L LT L T T LT NNULOT P VPR SR S UV S AP RN U VY S T T PR R

At any time in its @iscretion and upon such terms ds it deems just, the.
court may allow any process ot proof of service thiereof to be amended, tnless it
clearly appears that material prejodice would result fo the substantial nghts of the
party against:-whom the process:issued.

9 RCW 4.32.250 provides that _
A notice of other papers valid and effectual though the title of the action in wh1c’h
it is made 15 omifted, or it is defective either in respect to the court or parties, if it
intelligently refers to such action or proceedings; and in furtherance-of justice upon
proper terms, any other defect or ertor in any notice or other paper or proceeding
may be amended by the court, and any mischance, omission or defect reliéved
within one year thereafter; and the court'may enlarge or extend the time, for good
cause shown, within which by statute any.act is to be done, proceeding had or taken,

.. .notice or paper filed or served, or may, on such. terms as are just, permit the same
to be done or supplied after the txme fherefor has expired.
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‘County. The iawyers appeared pro sein Snobhomish County after recei.&ing the sumrmonses.
‘When they retained an éttomey, he appeared there as well. Most importantly, the lawyers ﬁmcl}.r
" filed answers to'the complaint filed in. Snohomish County Supetior Court. As was proper, Auer
and Traster movéd to amend the summonses,

The Jawyers claim that the trial court etred by allowing an amendmerit to the -.sumr;mﬁs.es,
because broper summonses were already on file with the court and Auer and Traster did not
seive those summonses, CR S(d)(1) requires,"in effect, that plaintiffs must file the -summoﬁé and
complaint served in acoordance with CR 4 with ﬂ%;é court. 'We have held that the summons filed
need not be identical to the-one served and that the pIaiufiffvcomblies w’i,tﬁ RCW 4.16.170 by
filing a stmmons “substantilly identical” to‘the- on¢ served. .Neaf‘ing v.-Golden State Food‘s :
Corp., 52 Wn. App. 748, 752, 764 P.2d 242 {1988), The unamended sﬁmmonses 'hére were
. .subst-antial'ly'identi'cdl 10 the ones on file with-the cotirt; they héd the same case name, cause’
number, and parties. More importantly, they had idéntical response times and contained
identical '.'laﬁglm.ge‘ dbout the effect of a ﬂéfault; The summonses served by Auer and Traster
' “'-COmpliéd with CR 5¢@)(1). For all of these reasots ;we hold that:the trial court did not er by
~d§n_ying the ‘surﬁmaljy j_udgmgnt moﬁoﬁ o dismiss ..-Aﬁer"& and Traster’s claims agaiﬁs’t Anderson
lunter, Knapp, and Gibbs due to uatimely-commencement, Morrison, 26 ‘Wn. App. at 573-75,

-4, ‘Serviceon Leach and Jane Doe Leach. o

Awer and Tréster served Leach ﬁnd J é.ne Doe Leach with a summons on June 16, 2011,
That sugnrmots properly lis'éed Snohomish ‘County as the action’s venue, but was se;&red:outs’idé: '
the 90-day‘tolling period .i'nitiated. by the filing of the complaint under RCW 4.16.170. The

{awyers argue that the Snohomish County action was not properly commenced until this
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sufnmons was served on Leach and Jane Doe Leach and that this time-barred the malpractice
claim against all defendants,

This argument fails under Sidis. Thaf decision held that under RCW 4.16.170, serving . |
any oné -of multiple defendants tolls.the éfamte of lirhitations against all the de'fendants', subject
to the restrfic.tidn that a defendant must in fact be served before ’the action may proceed against
that-defendant, .Sidis, 117 Wn.2d at 329—30 As held above, Anderson Hunter, Gibbs, and
Knapp were served on April 26, 2011 in comphanoe with CR 5(d)(1), well within 90 days of
filing the complaint, Leachiand Jane Doe Leach were served in June 2011, before Auer and
Traster proceeded against them, Thus, m‘der Sidz‘.g,: Aﬁer and Traster properly commenced their

action agdinst Ahderson Hunter, Leach, Jane Doe Leach, Gibbs and Koapp. .
| 5. Service on Jane Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe Knapp - |

No affidavit of service or any other ev'idence shows service of process on Jane Doe Gibbs
or Jane Doe Knapp Under Szdzs 117 Wn.2d at 329-30, a defendam must be served at some

point, to mamiam an action against her, Therefore, we reverse the order of surmmary ]udgment as

~far as it denied Jane Doe Kuapp anid Jane Doc Gibbs distrissal of Aver's and Taster’s: ==+

‘malpractice claim as time-barred. We remand for the trial court to enter an order granting
»summaxs;,j“udgxnent dismissing the malpfac”cice clpitn against Jane Doe Gibbs and Jane Doe
Knapp on those grounds, - |
‘C.  The Malpractice Claim

Aver and Traster argue that the trial court erred by.d,imnissing their malpractice elaim on
summary judgment because (1) the trial court applied an incorrect evidentiary standard when it.

required eipe,r,t testimony on causation to survive the motion for summary judgment and (2) they
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offered evidence that created .genuine igsues of material fact as to whether the lawyers*
:malpractxce proximately caused Aucr s and Traster’s injuries.’® We disagree, !
L. Applxcable Legal Prmclples
' A plaintiff must show four elements to succeed on a claim of legal malpractice:
(1) the existence of an 'attameyw'c_l'icnt relationship giving rise to a duty of
care on the part of the lawyer; (2) ah.act or omission breaching that duty; (3) damage

to the client; and (4) the breach of duty must have been a proximate cause of the
damages to the client.

Nzelson v, Bisenhower & Carlson, 109 Wn. App. 584 589, 999 P.2d 42 {2000).
| Proximate cause provides “the. nexus between ‘breach of duty and resulting injury.” Estep -

v Hamilton, 148 Wn., App. 246, 256, 201 P.3d 331 (2008), Establishing proximate cause:

" requires showing that the alleged breécfi of a duty was'both a 6ause-"in-fac.t and a legdl cause of

the claimed injury. Nielson, 100 Wn, App. at 591.

10 Auet and Traster also afgue that the tial court erred by, grantmg the lawyers summary
judgment because they faﬂed 10 :show the absence. of genuine issues-of matetial fact with

-~ citations to the record as required by Whitev, Kent Medical Center, Inc.; 61 Wi App. 163,170;"

810 P.2d 4 (1991). Thelawyers; however, did point to the record to show that Aver and Traster

had failed to suppo‘r‘t the es‘sent‘ial elements of their claims with evidence.

1 The lawyers raise a number of issues related 1o the dismissal of the: malpractice claim that we
do not address on their merits.
, First, the lawyers argue, for the first time on appeal, thet the attorney judgment rule that
we recognized in Clark County Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey P.C., 180 Wn. App.
689, 701-04, 324 P.3d 743, Feview dénied, 181 Wn.2d 1008 (2014), shields them from liability.
The lawyers failed to raise this issue to the trial court.and we dectineto consider it. RAP 2.5(a).

Second, the lawyers also assign. error to the trial court’s:refusal to exclude certain
evidenice. They have waived this assignment of error because they fail to make any argument as
to how or why the trial court erred. Instead, they sitaply incorporate their trial briefing, We do
not allow paities to argue issues in that manner, U.S. W. Commc'ns, Inc. v. Wash, Utils. &
Transp. Comm'n, 134 Wn.2d 74, 111-12, 949 P.2d 1337 (1997); Holland v. C’tly of Tacoma, 90.
Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1988)

Finally, the lawyers give passing treatment to arguments that Auer and Traster havenot
supported their claims of damages. Again, we generally do not reach the merits of issues given
passing treatment. Habitat Watch, 155 Wn.2d at 416 (quoting Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 868-69).
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Auer’s and Traster’s appeal concemns t‘he cause-in-fact prong of proximate causation. An
-act is a.cause-in-fact of an mjury, if, ““but for’” the act, the injury would -ﬁpt'have 6.ccurred. Kim
» Budéetkent A Car Sys., Inc., 143 Wn.2d 190,203, 15P.3d 1283 (2001) (quotilﬁg Hertoé w
City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 282-83, 979P.24 400 (1999)). A cause-in-fact, in other wqrdéz
i5 one that. pi*ov.ides an ““immediate conmection betwean an act and an injury.*” Nielson, 100
Wa. App. at 591 (quoting City of Seatile v. Blume, 134 Wn.2d 243, 25 1-52, 947 P.2d 223
(1997)). Where the injur& quld oceur .rggar.dless. of ‘any'breaéh by the attorney, t'hér.e.is no “but -
for connection between the breach and the injury; consequeﬁtl-y,; in malpractice cases the
.,p"la'intifff must show that, absent the-bxgéch! 'he or she “‘woﬁld have prevailed or at least would
have achieved a better result.” Estep, 148 W App. at 256 (quoting Halvorson v. Ferguson, 46
Wn. App. 708, 715., 735 P.2d 675 (1986)); ‘Geer v. Tonnen, 137 Wn. App. 838, 840, 155 P.3d
1 63 -é2007); Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP,:'IB.S Wn. App. 859, 864, 147 P.3d 600.(2006);
Griswoldv. Kilpatrick, 107 Wn. App. 757, 760-6.1,,. 27 P.3d 246-(2001); see Sherry v. Dienclés, 29
Wi, App. 433, 438, 628 P,2d 1336.(1981). |
e g Bypert Testimony ~

Aver and Traster first contend that summary judgment was 'illapp;opriate because the trial
court held them to an inproper burden.of proof by xeqdifing‘expert testimony about causation in
order to s-uwive sumrary jucigment. ‘We disagree,

Auer and Traster contend that the trial court*“did not find . , , that [fha] p‘léint'i'ffs had not
established evidentiary facts to meet t‘h‘eilr burden.” Appellant’s Reply Br. at 5 (emphasis |
omitted). To the contrary, the trial court found no evidence in the record that would directly
show, or allow the inference, that Auer and Traster wouid.‘have prevailed or obtained a bettef

result id the ﬁiidé‘ﬂying- tnal without the defendants® A.malpréctice. As discussed below, it was
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correct in that assessment, Given that lack 6f evidence, the trial comrt concluded that expert
testimony was necessary to establish causation; otherwise the jury c.oﬁld only find the lawyers
had prc;ximatély caused Auer’s and Traster’s losses by pure speculation.

The trial court de not-apply an incorvect :évidentiary burden. Washinéton has recognized
that e){pent testimony is usually necessary where the jury could otherwise. only find an element o.f
.negli’gence by pute speculation, See Estate of Bordon v, Dep’tof Corr., 122 Wn. App. 227, 243-
44,95 P,3d 764 (2004). An opinion from DiviéionOne-df this court, see -Geer, 157 Wi App. at
8571, and a freatise on legal malpractice, 4 R. Mallen & J. Smith, Legal Malpractice § 34:20, at
1172 (2008 ed.), have tecognized this principle’s-application in the céntext .Sf Tegal ma‘ipra‘cti@.,
Thel irial court’s orﬁef on suimary judgment reflects the logic of this authority and the principle
that a plaintiff alleging malpractxce rmust introduce ewdence of each element of his or her claim
1o avoid summary Judgment Geer, 137 Wn. App. at 851 n.11.

Auer and Traster also c.ontepd, in th.elr_ teply bnef, that the trial court erred by requiring |

expert testimony on causation because any such testimony would be speculative and

*impermissible, Auer and Traster, hiowever, waived this argument by failing to raise ivin their -~

opening brief.? Cowiche Canyon-Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549
(1992). |

» Regardless, their argument lacks merit. The type of expert testimony the trial court found
. necessary given the lack of other evidence of causation is analogous to the type of expert
testimony about causation not only accepted, but generally required, in other types of
professional malpractice claims. E.g., Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D,, Inc., 99 Wn.2d 438, 449,
663 P.2d 113 (1983); see Hill v. Sacred Heart Med. Cir., 143 Wn. App. 438, 448, 117 P3d 1152
(2008). .
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3. Causation.

Auer and Traster nex£ .coﬁtend that the trial court erred by -gfanting summary judgment,
because they -creatqd éenu’ine issues-of ma{térial fact about causation. They contend that they
showed (1) the failure to seék equitable relief, (2) the failureto seek timely discovery, and (3) the
ﬁlawjers" lack of diligence caused them damages. They alse argue that (4) the lawyers®
pretextual withdrawal from representing them so soon before trial required them to retain a new
attoiney, resulting ini High’ex .aﬁomey fees than éthey- otherwiseé would have needed to pay. We
consider these in tum '

_Auer and ﬁaster did riot ial‘eﬁeri’t sufficient evidenceto create a genuine issue of :mét.erial
fact that the .léwyers’ failute to pursue equitable relief'caused t'herﬁ damages. 'While Brain did
- opine that the pursuit of monetary damages breached the-duty of care, he did not opine that this -
caused Auer éﬁd'Traster any injury until his supplemental decl'a‘ma'tiom That declaration,
however, was not before the'trial couxt.at"t"ﬁe time of summary judgment, and we cannot consider

it'when reviewing the order on sumtary judgment, RAP 9.12, ‘Without that declaration, Auer

" %ind Trastér fail 16 créate a gening issue of taterial Tact a¥'t6 Whiethier Ty would have prévailed ™ " ™

in the undexlying acﬁ'on‘,} or at least have fared better than they did. Further, establishing
cansation based on the failute to seek equitab‘le'r;élief'reqiﬁres; Avei and Traster to show 'ﬁat the
trial court would have found their rem;edies' at law inadequate. Sorenson » Pyeatt, 15“8 ‘Wn.2d
52‘3, 531, 146 P.3d 1172 '_(20.06') (equitable remedies ypavailable unless damages at law |
madcquate)\ Brain never opined, in'his original or supp"iemental declaration, that monetary
damages were inadequate and Auer and Traster had no. dlfﬁculty monetizing their losses.

Auer’s and Traster’s second argument, alfeging the fhilure to seek timely discovery, also

' fails. Nothmg in the record shows o allows an infetence that Auer’s and Traster’s kﬁbwle'dge of
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the underlying defendants’ insurance coverage limits would have affected how the parties would
have proceeded m the underlying suit. Instead, Auer ;znd Ttaster offer only speculation that the
outcome of the underlymg suit- would have differed had the lawyers ‘timely obtained d13covery
That. speculauon is insufficient to create 4 genuine issue of material fact on the element of
caisation, Swmith, 135 Wn. App. at 864; Young, 112 Wn.2d at 225-26.

Auer’s and Traster’s third argument fayes no Seﬁer. Evidence in the record does createa
germine issue of Jﬂat‘eria’l fact as to whether Auer and Traster settled bccausé the lawyers’ lack of
diligence left them without the resources neccssary‘ﬁo continue pursuing their claims. Thereisa -
difference, though, between .tikgxe‘ lawyers’ actions causing Auer and Traster to accept the
settlement and the lawyers’ actions causing them an. 'injur):', Any lack of diligence only' caused
Auer and Traster an injury if they would have received more than the settlement they accepted
" had they gone to trial, e.g., Estep, 148 Wn. App. at 256 (quoting .Hal;;or‘son, 46 Wn. App. at
7 1 9), and no evidence indicates or alIowé thé infgre'nce that they would have.

Aver’s and Traster’s fourth argument s that Gibbs offered pretextual reasons for

) Withdtéwing from his representation of them. Brain bpined that Gibbs offered those ptetextuail' o
Teasons to advanoce the lawyers’ mterests instead of those of Auer and Traster. Auer and Traster
also point out that Leach had tesnﬁed inhis depesmon that he d1d not baheVe the d13par1ty in,

' damages to be a conflict. |

This-evidence, howevér, does not-controvert the validity of Gibbs’ proffered réason for
withdrawal; that the difference between the individual -amoﬁllats atrisk for Auver and Traster
created a conflict of intérest, Further, an éttomey re,ﬁrcsén‘ﬁng a-client in a civil matter may only
withdraw from representation with .ﬂme perndi'ss'idn' of the court if the client-objectsto the

withdrawal. Kingdom v. Jackson, 78 Wi. App. 154, 158, 896 P.2d 101 (1995); CR 71. The
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attorneys presentgd the court with their reasons for withdrawing and received the trial court’s
permission over Auer’s and Traster”s objections. Thus, the hﬁrﬁediate cause of the withdrawal
was the order of the trial court.

‘We recognize that Auer and Traster alleged that iﬁ his argument on withdrawal Gibbs
made inaccurate representations .tb the court :abou‘t Auer’s and Traster’s payment status and theis
faﬂure 10 respond to his communications. We make no determination of' ihe truth of these
allegatlons These representatlms however, do not. ralse factua] issues as to whether the
asserted reason for withdrawal, the presence of:a conflict, was an artifice or pretext. Rather, at.
most they may raise an issuie as to the validity of the order of withdrawal. The validity of that
-action, though, is hot before s, | | |

Auer and Traster raise ne genuine issues -‘O.f material fact about causafion as to heir
malpractice claim, The court properly ,enter.,ed summary judgment for the lawyers on that claim,.
D.  The CPA Claim

Auer and Traster also contend that the trial court erred by dismissing their CPA-claims on

T giitiaary judgrhent Hecaise they offered evidende that would créate a genvine issie of fiaterial = T T

factas to(1) whether the lawyers acted deceptively or unfairly in withdrawing from
representation and (2) whether these deceptive or unfair act'S affected the public interest. We
affirm the order of Summary judgment on the CPA claim on different grounds, ﬁecause the
evidence didnot faise a genyine issue of ‘material faqt as to whether ,thc IaWers” actions related
to withdrawal caused Auer %'md Traster injury. .

1. Applicable Legal Principles |

The CPA proscribes “,[ujnf'air miethods -éf competition 'an(i unfair or-deceptive acts or

n pxactlces in the conduct of anjr’ua&e or commerce.” RCW 19.86.020. The CPA contains a
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private right of action allowing individuals to:enforce its proscriptions. RCW 19.86.090.

Success on a CPA. claim requires a plaintiff to establish five elements: “(1) [an] unfair or

deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) [2] public interest impact, (4)

injury to [the] plaintiff in his or her business or property[, and] (5) causation.” Hangman R‘z’dge '

Tka'z’niné Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531:(1986). The

failure to make the né.cessary showing on any of the elements defeats a CPA claim. Hangman

Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 784,

2. Causation
For the reasons s¢t-out dbovein the analysis of the malpractice claim, the lawyers’
withdrawal from representation was not the proxiniate cause of injury to- Auner and Traster, Once

Auer and Traster.opposed it, withdrawal bould only be granted by court order. After hearing

ftom both sides, the'trial court granted the withdrawal. Gibbs® cldimed misrepresentations to the

court in arguing for withdrawal may raise a question about the basis for the. order, but the validity

“ofthe court’s wifh&pawal order is not before us, Because the court grdered withdrawal in an

' action we must-presume valid, the evidence does not show'me'needed cdusal link between the =~ -~

lawyers’ actions and Auer™s and Traster’s increased expenses due to'the withdrawal.

We may affirm a challenged decision on any grounds supported by the record,

Acco'rdingly, 'W't',‘;allfﬁ'r;lia the order of-éﬂmxjnary judgment on the CPA claim.

II. RECONSIDERATION
Auer and Trastet claim that the trial court impropesly (1) excluded Brain’s supplemental
declaration on reconsideration and (2) deniied the motion for reconsideration. Again, we

disagree.
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A ~ Applicable Legal Principles

~ We review atrial court’s decfsion on a motion. for reconsideration fqr an abuse of
: discretiop. Landstar Inway, Inc. v. Samrow, 181 Wn. App. ]02, 120-121, 325 .f.Sd 327 .(20-145.
"We‘ r‘em’ew a trial court’s “decision to consider new or additional evidence presented with a
iotion for reconsideration” for an abuse of discretion, Martini v. Post, 178 W, App.. 153, 162,
3'13, P.3d 473 (2013). Atrial court abuses its discfetion where it exercises its discretion ina ‘.
manifesﬂy"unreasolviable manher or on untenable grounds or for untenhble reasons. SentinelC3,
Frc.v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 127, 144,331 P.3d 40 (2014).
B. Brain’g 'Suppleﬁxental Declaration o

" Auer ahd Traster first contend that the trial court abused its-discretion when it refused to
~§onsider IBram!s.supplemental declaration, which they offered m conjunction with their motion
for .réconsidemtidn, claiming that nothing in CR 59 or case law interpreting tha't rule prevented
the trial court ﬁom considering new evidence on reconsideration. Augr and Traster correctly

characterize the trial court’s ability to consider new evidence. The tourt, howeyer, excluded

" ‘Brain’s suppiemental declaration as 4 discovery sanction: Aver and Traster badmotprovided .

Brain’s opinion as required by the discovery rules wotil long after the discovery cutoft;

In Keck v. ;C':olli‘z'zs, No. 903573, 2015 WL 56’1é.8-29 (Sept. 24,.2015), thé ‘Supreme Coust.
'held‘tha‘g*-the t£i'a‘1 court must consider ‘the factors from Burﬁet,,"l‘?: 1'Wn-.2d at 497-98, on the -
tecord before striking unt'imeﬂlj ﬁled evidence submitted in 'responéé toa surnmé:y,judgment
motion, Keck, No.90357-3,2015 WL 56‘.12829 at *8, Ourreview of the tridl court’s decision is -
for an abuse of discretion. Jd. Only in their reply 'brief" do Auer and Traster cite Burnet or argue

thet the trial court.erred by excluding Brain's supplemental declaration as a discovery sanction,
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Under Cowiche Canyon Conservancy, 118 Wn.2d at 809, Auer and Traster waived this claim of
error by failing to raise if until their reply brief.

C. Denial of Reconsideration

" Without Bra’ir{’;s ‘suppleinental declaration, any new evidence .con;si-déred by the trial court
«did not-change the analysis of'the causation issue: nothing before the conrt on reconsideration
showed that Auer a:a;l Traster would likely lmvé prevailed or obtained a better resuit in the
underlying inatter, .'With that, any ..cl'a'im‘ of malpractice fqils for lack of evidence to support the
causation -eleﬁlént, and reconsideration was unwarranted. ‘Cf Martini, 178 Wa. App. at 164
(teconsideration of éummary judgment warranted where all the évidence before the court
establishes a genuine issiie of ‘material fact). |

CONCLUSION
‘We affirm the-trial court’s grant of sumnmaty judgment in favor of the lawyers on the

malpractice and CPA claims. We also affirm the trial court’s orcier:st_ﬁking Brain’s supplemental

declaration and its order denying reconsideration of the malpractice claim, On the cross-app eal,

" we affirm the trial court’s denial of sumary judgment dismissing the walpractics olaim against

Anderson Hunter, Leach, Jane. Doe Leach, Gibbs and Knapp as time-barred, but i".evérsé the trial
.court’s denial of summary judgment dispiissing the malpractice claim against Jane Doe ‘Gibbs
“and Jane Doe Knapp onthe. same grounds, Accordingly, we remand for the trial court to enter an

order granting summary judgment dismissing the malpractice claim against Jane Doe Gibbs and
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~ Jane Doe Knapp as time-barred.
A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the
Waghington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW

2.06.040, it ig 50 ordered.

. We concur:’
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I. INTRODUCITON

Tammy Slack appeals the dismissal of her legal malpractice
claim against her former lawyer Lucinda Luke, After hiring
appellant Tammy Slack, the Washington Department of Corrections
ignored her repeated requests to accommodate her disabilities —
sciatica, carpal tunnel, and an acute sensitivity to mold and other
environmental toxins. On September 15, 2009, after the DOC's lack
of accommodations forced her to resign, Ms. Slack met with Ms,
Luke, who agreed to represent Ms, Slack in a failure to
accommodate lawsuit, Ms. Slack expressed concern to Ms. Luke
that “time may be running out on this case,” but Ms. Luke failed to
file a lawsuit before the statute of limitations expired on October
30, 2009. Ms. Slack then brought this malpractice action against
Ms, Luke, which the trial court dismissed on summary judgment
becaﬁse Ms. Slack did not have an .“.expert” opine that “her
~ underlying failure to accommodate claim was meritorious.

The trial court erred. Juries - ﬁot attorﬁeys masquerading
as “experts” — resolve the merits of an underlying claim by
reviewing the evidence presented in the “trial within a trial” held in

a legal malpractice action. Far from being beyond the common




knowledge of the average layperson, weighing the merits of a claim
" is the quintessential jury task.

Nor did any other grounds justify summary judgment.
Whether the scope of Ms. Luke's representatiﬁn of Ms. Slack
included filing a lawsuit was an issue of fact that could not be
resolved on summary judgment, Likewise, issues of 'fact regarding
the DOC’s lack of accommodation precluded summary judgment.
This Court should reverse the trial court’s summary judgment order
and remand for a trial of Ms, Slack’s legal malpractiqe claim.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in entering its Order On Cross-
Motions For Summary Judgment. (CP 1571-73)

2. The trial court erred in entering its Order Denying
Plaintiff's Motion For A New Trial And Reconsideration. (CP 1601-
02) |

Ili. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1, Does the “trial within a trial” held in a legal malpractice - |
action provide the mechanism.fof resolving the merits of a claim
lost or compromised as the result of attorney negligence, or must a
legal malpractice plaintiff present “expert” testimony from an

attorney opining on the merits of the underlying claim?




. Because Ms. Slack was the nonmoving party, this Court
views the evidence in the light most favorable to her in determining
whether a reaéonable jury could have found in Ms. Slack’s favor on
her malpractice claim, .

B. A legal malpractice plaintiff ié not required to
present “expert” testimony on the merits of the
underlying cause of action — the legal malpractice
jury resolves that question of fact by weighing the

" evidence in the “trial within a trial.”

Juries — not experts — resolve the merits of an underlying
claim in the “trial Within a trial” held in a legal malpractice action.,
The trial court erred in dismissing Ms; Slack’s rﬁalpractice claim
because she did not have “expert” testimony that she would have
prevailed on her tort claim had Ms. Luke timely filed it. This Court
should reverse the trial court's summary judgment order and
remand for a trial at which a jury wiil resolw}e the merits of Ms,
Slack’s forfeited tort Alaim. |

. “To establish a claim for legal malpractice, a plaiqtiff must
prove the following four elements: (i) The existence of an attorney-
client relationship, which gives rise to a duty of care on the part of

the attorney to the client; (2) an act or omission by the attorney in

breach of the duty of care; (3) damage to the client; and (4)
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proximate causation between the attorney’s breach of the duty and
the damage incurred.” Versuslaw, 127 Wn. App. at 320, § 23.

“The principles of proof and causation in a legal malpractice
action usually do not differ from an ordinary negligence case.”
Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 257 (citing Ward v. Arnold, 52 Wn.2d 581,
584, 328 P.2d 164 (1958)). “[Tlhe plaintiff must demonstrate that
he or she would have achieved a better result had the attorney not
been negligent.” Versuslaw, 127 Wn.'_App.‘ at 328, 142. Where an
attorney’s error prevents or undermines the trial of a client’s claim,
“the causaﬁbn issue in the subsequent malpractice action is
relatively straightforward.” Daugért, 104 Wn.2d at 257. The court
hearing the malpractice claim holds a “trial within a trial” that asks
the jury to decide whether the client would have fared better in the
underlying case but for the attorney’s negligence:

The trial court héaring the malpractice claim merely

retries, or tries for the first time, the client’s cause of

action which the client asserts was lost or
compromised by the attorney’s negligence, and the

trier of fact decides whether the client would have

fared better but for such mishandling,... In effect

the second trier of fact will be asked to decide what a

reasonable jury or fact finder would have done but for -

the attorney’s negligence. Thus, it is obvious that in

most legal malpractice actions the jury should decide
the issue of cause in fact.
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Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 2572; see also DeWolf & Allen, 16
Washington Practice: Tort Law and Practice § 15.46 at 498 (3d ed.
2006); Ronald Mallen, 4 Legal Malpractice § 37:85 at 1662 (2015
ed.) (“The accepted approach in estab"liﬁhing whether the lawyer’s
act or omissidn caused an injury is by a trial-within-a-trial”). The
“trial within a trial” procedure is particularly appropriate for cases
involving a missed statute of limitations, Mallen, supra, § 37:137 at
180§ (“Causation may be obvious, if the lawyer’s error was an
affirmative act or for some omissions, such as the failure to file a
lawsuit.”). |

Because the “irial within a trial” procedure “provides the
objective mechanism for resolving the underlying 'case,” ekpert
testimony opining on whether the plaintiff would have prevailed on
the underlying claim is not required — or even permitted. Mallen,

supra, § 37:138 at 1813-14 (courts “have refused or have been

2 In Daugert the issue of proximate cause was a question of law
because it turned on whether the Supreme Court would have granted a
petition for review had the lawyer timely filed one, and if so, whether the
Supreme Court’s ruling would have been favorable to the client. 104
Wn.2d at 258-59. As Daugert and subsequent cases make clear, the issue
of causation is for a jury except in the limited cases that require the trier
of fact to “engage in an analysis of the law.” Brust v. Newton, 70 Wn,
App. 286, 292, 852 P.2d 1002 {1993), rev. denied, 123 Wn.2d 1010 (1994);
Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 258 (causation “depend{ed] on an analysis of the
law and the rules of appellate procedure”). ‘
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. reluctant to require or admit” “expert testimony to establish
whether the underlying action would have been ‘settled or won”)
Gistjng cases).3 Far from being beyond the common knowledge of
the average layperson, resolving the merits of an underlying claim is
the quintessential - and constitutional - jury task. James v.
Robeck, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971) (“To the jury is
consigned under the constitution the ultimate poﬁer to weigh the
evidence and determine the facts.”); Mallen, supra, § 37:126 at 1768
(“The raﬁonale is that resolving the underlying case ordinarily is
within the expertise of the jury.”). Expert testimony on the merits
of the underlying claim undermines the constitutionally “inviolate”

right to a jury trial by withdrawing from the jury and delegating to

8 Accord Whitley v. Chamouris, 265 Va, 9, 11, 574 S.E.2d 251, 253
(2003) (“The expert testimony Whitley maintains was necessary requires
either a prediction of what some other fact finder would have concluded
© ot an evaluation of the legal merits of Chamouris’ claims. No witness can
predict the decision of a jury and, therefore, the former could not be the
subject of expert testimony.”); Piscitelli v, Friedenberg, 87 Cal. App. 4th
053, 973, 105 Cal. Rptr. 2d 88 (2001) (experts are not permitted “to tell
the jury what a reasonable trier of fact would have done”); Bernardini v,
Fedor, 2013 WL 5701670, 2013-Ohio-4633, 1 6 (2013) (“Although expert
testimony is required as to the standard of conduct and breach of duty in
a legal malpractice claim .. . there is no corresponding requirement with
respect to proximate cause.”); Leibel v. Johnson, 201 Ga. 180, 183, 728
S.E.2d 554, 556 (2012) (deciding the merits of the underlying claim “is a
task that is solely for the jury, and that is not properly the subject of
expert testimony”); First Union Nat. Bank v. Benham, 423 F.3d 855, 864
(8th Cir, 2005) (expert testimony is not “required to prove whether the
outcome of the underlying case would have been different”).
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“experts” the role of weighing evidence and deciding facts. Wash.
Const. Article 1 § 21; ¢f. State v. Hudson, 150 Wn. App. 646, 652, 1
16, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009) (expert opinion. on defendant’s guilt
violates constitutional right to jury trial).

Here, the trial court erred in dismissing Ms. Slack’s mal-
practice claim because she did not presenf “expert” “opinion from a
qualified attorney that [she] had a chance, even a small chance, of
prevailing in [the underlying] action had it been filed in a timely
basis.”A (RP 34-35) A jury could resolve without expert testimony
whether Ms. Slack would have prevailed on her tort claim —~ had it
been filed ~ by weighing the evidence presented in the “trial within
a trial,” | Ms. Luke’s “expert” testimony that Ms. Slack’s underlyiﬁg
claim lacked merit was nothing more than argument. Indeed, it-
simply parroted the arguments made by Ms, Luke in her summary
judgmént motion.  (Compare CP 153 with CP 811 (using identiéal
" language to argue that Slack’s discrimination claim lacked merit))

The cases rélied on by Ms, Luké bélow do not require the
presentation of “expert” testimoﬁy on the merits of an underlying
claim. For example, in Geer v Tonnon, 137 Wn, App. 838, 155 P.ad
163 (2007), rev. denied, 162 Wn.2d 1018 (2008) (cited at CP 808),

the Court affirmed the summary judgment dismissal of a
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malpractice claim because the client “failed to ‘provide expert
testimony or other evidence to demonstrate that . . . a breach of [the
attorney’s] duty of care was the cause in fact of [the client’s] claimed
damages.” 137 Wn. App. at 851, 1 24 (emphasis added). Geer was
based on the lack of any evidence establishing that the client would
* have prevailed on the underlying claim and stands only for the
unremarkable proposition that a malpractice plaintiff must present
some evidence that she would have prevaﬂéd on her underlying
claim. 137 Wn. App. at 851, 24 (“[client]_ introduced no evidence
to show that had [attorney] ... filed suit ,.. within the one-year
limitation period, [client] would have ‘obtained a favorable
judgment”) (emphasis added).+ Here, in contrast to Geer, Ms. Slack

presented sufficient evidence to raise a question of fact on the

4 The other cases cited below were likewise inapposite. Prather v.
McGrady, 261 11\, App. 3d 880, 634 N.E.2d 299, appeal denied by 157
Il.2d 521 (1994) stated in passing without analysis that “a legal expert -
[needed] 1o testify that the attorneys breached their standard of care and
but for that negligence, [the plaintiff] would have succeeded in the
underlying medical malpractice suit,” but then affirmed summary
judgment because plaintiff did not have “expert testimony to show the
proper standard of care and a breach of that standard.” Williams v.
Beckham & McAliley, P.A., 582 So.2d 1206, rev. denied, 592 So.2d 683
{1991), did not address whether expert testimony was required; it held on
undisputed facts that the defendant attorneys were not negligent as a
matter of law. Nika v. Danz, 199 Il App. 3d 296, 556 N.E.2d 873 (1990),
held that the trial court did not err in admitting expert testimony on the
“ultimate issue” in the case, whether plaintiffs contributory negligence
was fatal to his underlying claim, not that such testimony was required,
Boulette v, Boulette, 627 A.2d 1017 (Me, 1993) is not a malpractice case. -
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merits of her underlying claim, (See § IV.C.2) That question must
be resolved in the trial within a trial,

The trial court erred for the addi’;ional reason that no expert
testimony, even regarding the attorney’s standard of care and
breach, is necessary where, as here, “the érea of claimed
malpractice is within the common knowledge of laymen,” DeWolf
& Allen, supra, § i5.44 'at 495. Courts routinely apply this rule to
cases involving a missed statute of limitations. Mallen, 'supra, 8
37:128 at 1776-77 (“The most frequent situation, not requiring
expert testimony, is a statute of limitations or other time limitation
missed”) (listing cases), Thus, Ms. Slack was not required to
presenf any expert testimony to survive summary ju&gment.
Regardless, Ms, Slack did fresent testimony from two experienced
attorneys stating that Ms. Luke’s cénduct breached the standard of
care and caused Ms, Slack’s damages. (CP 204-13)

The trial cc;urt erred in dismissing Ms. Slack’s claim because
she did not present “expert” testimon& that her underlying tort
claim was meritorious. Such a rule conflicts within the well-
| established “trial within a trial” methodology fof resolving legal
malpractice claims. This Court should reverse and remand for trial

of Ms. Slack’s malpractice claim.
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Al INTRODUCTION

Tammy Wolf Slack, a former Department of Corrections (“DOC™)
employee, was told by two capable attorneys that she did not have a claim
against DOC under Washington’s Lew Against Discrimination, RCW
49.60 (“WLAD") for DOC’s alleged failure to accommodate her claimed
disebility. She decided to sue Lucinda Luke, then of the Richland law
firn of Cowan Moore Stam Luke & Peterson (“Cowan Moore”),' for
malpractics because Luke declined to file an action on her behalf against
DOC, despite Luke’s belief, confirmed by expert testimony, that Slack’s
claim was baseless. |

The trial court here correctly granted summary judgment to Luke.
‘While there was no attorney-client relationship between Slack and Luke to
undertake the filing of an action against DOC, even if there were, Slack
cannot prove causation here, the so-called “case within.a case,” because
Luke was under no legal obligation to file a meritless claim based on the
materials Slack provided her in 2009,‘ as w@utted expert testimony .
stated, Moreo*)er, Slack's claim against DOC was meritless. |

In seeking to reverse the trial court's well-reasonéd decision, Slack
conflates the infonﬁation regarding her claim against DOC that she

! Cowan Moore Stam Luke & Peterson, P.S. is now Cowan Moore, PLLC,
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provided to Luke in 2009 with information, and expert testimony, she
generated nearly five years later to support her putative claim, Failing to
obtain expert testimony on causation, both as to whether she had a
legitimate reasonable accommodation claim agaihst DOC based on the
materials that she possessed in late 2009 and afier she ﬁled the present
actmn, Slack asserts that such expert testimony was unnecessary. She is
wrong.
This Court should affirm the trial court’s summary judgment
decision. .
B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR |
Luke acknowledges Slack’s assignments of error, br. of appellant
at 2, but believes the issués pertaining fo those assignments of error are
‘more appropriately formulated as follows:

1. Was the trial court cotrect in concluding that a legal
malpractice claimant failed to state a prima facie case aguinst an
attorney where the claimant failed to offer expert testimony that
when the claimant consulted the attorney she had a sufficient basxs
for filmg a reasonable accommodaﬁon olaim in court?

2. . Was the trial couxt correct inconcludmg that such a
legal malpractice claimant also failed to state a prima facie claim
against the attorney by failing to establish that she would have
prevailed on a reasonable accommodation claim?

3. Under the facts in this case, was the 1egal
malpractice claimant’s assertion that she had an attomey-client

relationship with the attorney to fle an action in court
unreasonable as a matter of law?
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Luke will address the other elements of legal malpractice claim
that Slack failed to establish as a matter of law infiw, but the most glering
faﬂure in Slack’s contention below is her failure to prove causation, the
Pappas “cese within a case.” To establish causetion, Slack had an
affirmative burden to demonstrate that but for any alleged negligcnéc on
Luke’s part, she “would have prevailed or achieved & better result.”
Halvorsen v. Ferguson, 46 Wa. App. 708, 715, 735 P.2d 675 (1986),
review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1008 (1987). |

A case involving a failure to file a claim within the statute of
limitations is treated under the same analysis as a failure to timely file é
notice of appeal. Nielson v. Eéenhawer & Carlson‘, 100 Wn. App. 584,
999 P.2d 42, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1016 (2000).%

Slack alleged four “Covmts” in her complaint ~ negligence, “Due Diligencs [sic],”
“Breech [sic] of Contract,” and malprastice, CP 13-17, the facts alleged by Slack in
conneotion with those counts essentially staie only & claim for logal malpractice, a claim
that Luke failed to meet the applicable standard of care. Hizey v. Carpeniter, 119 Wn.2d
251, 260-61, 830 P.2d (1992). “Due Diligence [sic]” is simply not a valid cause of
acton; rather it is simply another formulation of Slack's legal malpractice claim against
Luke/Cowsn Moore, Finally, while Washingion courts have allowed “an action for legal
malpractice [to] be framed conceptually either as & tort or a breach of contract,” Slack’s

cl;in;)hae clearly sounds in tocrt Peters v. Simmons, 87 Wn.2d 400, 404, 552 P.2d 1053
(197

2 There, Division 11, in e case not cited by Stack, held that although s attorney
gavetheclim ctroneuuudwce shout the statute of limitations for a federal tort claim
. and, based on that advice, they seitled their cass rather than risk a Ninth Cirouit appeal,
the plaintiffs fiiled to establish that but for the mtorney's negligence they would have
obtained a more favorable result, The courl determined the cansation issue was a
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In addressing the causation element of her claim, Slack
erroneously treats the need for expert tesﬁmony. Br. of Appéllant at 20-
27, Slack also fails to diffemnﬁate between Luké’s two bases for asserting
that Slack failed to meet her obligation to prove the cansation element of
her professional negligence claim. First, Luke and her expert John Schultz
properly concluded that Luke had no besis in law or fact in the fall of 2009
| from the facts then in existence to sue DOC on Slack's behalf. Slack
Jailed to offer any expert testimony to rebut that evidence. Second, Slack
could not establish a reasonable aeoommodation claim against DOC as a
matter of law. |

Instead, Slack conten&s that in professional ncéligmce cages, there
will always be a “uid—witbin-a«trial” on the claimant’s undetlying claim.
Br. of Appellant at 21-22.%3 That argument is belied by Washi:{gton law 2

question of law. I, at 594-95. The court further concluded that the clients would not
have obtained o more favorable result on appeal, Jd, at 598-99,

2 Slack cites to the Third Edition of Washington Practice for her conclusion.
Br. of Appellant at 22. The proper citation is to David DeWolf/Keller Allen: 16 Wash,
Prac, § 16.33 (4th ed. 2013), ,

#* Washington courts have rouﬁm)y rejecwd professional nepligence cases on
summary judgment for failure to prove the causation element as & matter of law. In
Sherry v. Diercks, 29 Wn. App. 433, 628 P.2d 1336, review denjed, 96 Wn.2d 1003
(1981), for example, a client sued his attomey when the attorney tojd the client prior to
tigl that ho had no defense to & claim brought ageinst him by his commodities futures
broker. The attornoy allowed e defsull and default judgment to bo taken against the
client. Ultimately, the trial court dismissed the legal malpractice claim at the close of the
client's case, Division I affirmed because the client had no legitimate defense to the
broker's claim for moneys owing as a matter of law, See also, Halvorsen v. Ferguxon, 46
W App. 708, 735 P.2d 675, review denied, 108 Wn.24d 1008 (1987) (no relitigation of
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For example, in Daugerf, our Supreme Court distinguished
between a situation where the lawyer made an error during ﬁial and where
the lawyer failed to file a ﬁxﬁely appeal. In the former situation, the “trial
court hearing the malpractice claim merely retries, or tries for the first
time, the client's cau§e of action which the client asserts was lost or
compromised by the attorney’s negligence, and the trier of fact decides
whether the client would have fared better but for such mishandling.”
Daugbert, 104 Wn.2d at 257. When the malpractice is the failure to
timely file a notice of appeal, the “cause in fact inquiry becomes whether
the frustrated client would have been successful if the attorney had timely

filed the appeal.” Jd. at 258. This is a question of law for the court as the

faotual basis for client’s malpractice theory that attornoy failed to present theory fot
property split in divorcs action; summary judgment for attorney upheld); Leipham v.
Adams, 77T W, App. 827, 894 P.2d 576, review dented, 127 Wn2d 1022 (1998)
{summary judgment for atorney affirmed where estate beneficiary did not prove that
attorney should have disclaimed decedent’s joint tenant interest in cash management
accoumt in e bank); Griswold v. Kilpawrick, 107 Wn. App. 757, 27 P.3d 246 (2004)
{sumpaary judgment for attomey affinmed where causation slement was not established;
client olaimed earlier initlation of settleraent disoussions would have improved settlement
of case); Soratsavong v. Haskell, 133 Wu. App. 77, 134 P.3d 1172 (2006), review denied,
159 Wn.2d 1007 (2007) (sumwmary judgment for attorney affirmed where cliont failed to
prove causation element; attorney allegedly failed to timely file motion to vacate default
order but court concluded rs a matter of law that client had no lepitmates defense to
lisbility and stipulsted to amount of damages); Smith v. Preston Gates Ellis, LLP, 135
Wn. App. 859, 147 P.3d 600 (2006), review denied, 161 Wn.2d 1011 (2007) {Court
indicsted £t could decide cansation element where reasonabie minds conld not differ, and,
where an atlomsy poorly drafted a construction vontract, its deficiencies had no impact
on later suit by client against building contractor); Estep v. Hamilton, 148 Wn., App. 246,
201 P3d 331, review denied, 166 Wu.2d 1027 (2009) (this Court affirmed summary
judgment where client failed to prove causation eloment; client failed to demonsteate that -
she would have done better had the beneficiary designation on her ex-husband's life
insurance policy been re-designated post-dissolution).
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client must prove that the appellate court would have granted review and

| tendered & judgment in the client’s favor, as Slack ultimately
acknowledges, albeit in a footnote, Br. of Appellant at 22 n2. Division |
tefined this analysis in Brust v. Newton, 70 Wu. App. 286, 292, 852 P.2d
1092 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1010 (1994), There, the count
. indicated that expert testimony is critical on éuesn’am involving issues of
 law. 'The present case is precisely the type of case where the ﬁ'ier of fact
must “engage in an analysis of tixe law.” | ‘

First, Luke’s determination that Slack did not have a sufficient
* basis in law and fact to file an action in court in 2009 against DOC is
decidedly a question of law requiring legal analyaié of CR 11.

Second, even as td whether there is a basis for a WLAD reasonable
aocommodation case, legal issues are present as to whether Slack had a

basis for such a claim,

(8)

An attorney’s decision whether to file an action implicates that |
attorney’s duties under CR 11/RCW 4.84.185 and RPC 3.1* Such a

¥ In pertinent part, RPC 3.1 states: “A lawyer shall not bring or defend a
proceeding, oranscrtorconunvmnnismthmin,unleasmisabasismlnwandfmt
for doing so that is not frivolous, which includes a good fajth argument for an extension, .
modlﬁcatlonm'mversalofmcixtmglaw
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decision involves the attorney’s professional expertise, requiring expert
testimony.? |
Slack cites Geer v. Tonnon, 137 Wa. App. 838, 155 P.3d 163
(2007), review denied, 162 Wn.2d 1018 (2008), br. of appellant at 24, but
misstates its actnal holdihg. Far from being limited to 2 case in which no
facts were adduced on whethuf the client would have obtained a more
‘favorable result if the lawyer had filed suit ageinst homeowner’s insurer
within one year, the court held thet causation was a guestion of law and
court concluded that the clients ’failed to establish that they would have
obtained a favorable judgment but for the attbmey’s negligence. More
particularly, the court discussed the necessity of expert testimony on
" whether an attorney’s decision not to file a case con§ﬁtuted a breach of the
standard of care or that the broach was the csuse in fact of the clicnt’s
alleged damages. The court noted that the plaintiff failed to provide any
expert support for the propesition that the aitorney’s failure to file suit on
a chancy legal theory breached the standard of care. Jd. at 850-51,

Tu Watsen v, Maler, 64 Wn, App. B89, 891 827 P.2d 311, review denied, 120

'Wn.2d 1015 (1992), 8 CR 11 case, then — Judge Gerry Alexander observed: “A famous

lawyer once sald: *About half the practice of a decent lawyer ia tolliqg would be clients
 that, they are damned fools and should s

% Ag our Suprems Court noted in Jn re Disciplinary Prooeedings Against
Jones, 182 Wn2d 17, 338 P.3d 842 (2014), frivolovsness turns on whether a lawyer of
ordinary competence would recognize the issue’s lnck of merit. 4/, at 41, Clearly, what
an ordinarily competent iswyer would know is a question for expert testimony.
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‘Similarly, on causation, the court observed that the law is a highly
technical field beyond the knoﬁviedge of the ordinary person, id. at 851,
and aiﬁnned dismiésal of the cese because “...Geer failed to provide
expert testimony or evidence to demonstrate that such a breach of
Tonnon’s duty of care was the cause in fact of Geer’s claimed damages.”
Id. at 852,

The law from other jurisdictions supports the need for expert
testimony on such a legal issue. “Obviously, an attorney commits no
negligence concerning the statute of limitations by failing to file a
Jrivolous Yawsuit or one which otherwise would not produce 8 satisfactoiy
result® Bayle v, Welsh, 589 N.W.2d 118, 127 (Neb. 1999).

mﬁmatgly, the decision about wheﬁx& to file an action is entrusted
to the professional judgment of the attomey and is subject to the attorney’s
ethical obligation under the RPCs, court rules like CR 11, and statutes like
RCW 4.84.185, As the Boyle court noted: “Whther & suit should be

¥ See also, Koeller v. Reynolds, 344 NW.2d 556, 561 (lowa App, 1983)
(plaintiff argued thst it was malpraction not to file case within statute of limitations, but
court responded that the “argument begs the question of negligence by assuming she had
8 good case.”) “Thus, determining whether there was a suit that should be filed is 8
predicats to determining whether the failure to file such a suit within the period provided
for in the statute of limitations constituted & violation of en attorney's standard -of
conduct” Boyle, 580 N.W.2d at 127. See aiso, Procantk v, Cillo, 543 A.2d 985 (N.J.
Super. 1988), cert, denied, 113 N.J, 357 (1988) (attornery not culpabie for malpesctice in -
declining representation in 8 wrongful birth action whers, in exercising his professional
judgment, the attormey concluded that the law at the time disfavored such olaims; court
also concluded no attorney-client relationship was created),
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instituted against a particular defendant is an issue that is within the
province of an atiomey’s professional skill and judgment, and is not
within the ordinary knmowledge and experience of 'laypemons." 589
N.W.2d at 127, This is fully consistent with Geer, 137 Wn. App. at 851

" (the law is a highly technical field beyond the knowledge of the ordinary -
person). Moreover, because this decision about whether a case has
sufficient merit is so plainly one that in{rolves proféssional judgment,
expert testimony is essential to establish the standard of care and its
breach. Boyle, 589 N.W.2dat 127.

Accordingly, where an attorney in & malpractice action presents |
expert testimony on summary judgment that an underlying case should not
have been filed, the non-moving party must submit expert testimony to the
contrary to defeat summary judgment, Boyle, 589 N,W.2d at 128, This is
éntirely consistent with Washington’s standard for summary judgment
referenced supra. |

) idence i ¢’s Possession in 2009 Indicated
Slack Did Not Have an Actionable Ressonable
Accommodation Claim :
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The records provided by Slack to Luke in 2009, CP 157, were
limited in scope, and are found in the Clerk’s Papers annexed to I.,nke’s'
decleration. CP 33-149.28 | |

As part of her obligation oﬁ summary judgment, Slack had to
present evidence that shé would have prevailed on her WLAD reesonable
accommodation claim againgt DOC, but for Luke’s negligence.
Specifically, she had to demonstrate that Luke and Schultz were wrong in
concluding that she did not have a legitimate reasonable accommodation
claim against DOC based on the evidence she gave to Luke in 2009.

‘To properly md&smnd this issue, it is important to unde;stand a |
WLAD reasonable accommodation claim because many of the issues
asgociated with such a claim involve qumﬁon# of law for the trial coust,
requiriog expert testimony to establish them as part of lthc causation
element of Slack’s prima facie professional negligence case. Brust, supra.

@) WLAD Reagsonable Accommodation Claim

WLAD protects empidyees ‘from discrimination based on

disability. RCW 49‘50.030(1)."-‘ Under WLAD, employers must |

A The records Slack provided to Luke are distinct from subsequent evidence
developed by Slack and her attorneys in the present action in 2014 to attempt to support a
professional negligence canse of action againgt Luke,

A disability is defined in RCW 49.60.040(7):
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B. “Expert” testimony. is not required to raise a
genuine issue of material fact regarding causation in
a legal malpractice action, particularly where the
malpractice involves a missed statute of limitations.

Ms. Luke confuses the need for expert testimony on the.
standarfd 'of‘ care and causation. Expert testimony is not reqlﬁred to
establish causation because it is a question of fact within the
understanding of a layperson. This Court should reject Ms. Luke’s
arguinent that ‘causétion 'is a question of law for “experts.”

To establish causation m a legal malpractice action the
' pl‘airltiff must show that she would have aChievedla be’;t'er .result in
the underlying suit but for the defendant’s negligence. Versuslaw, |
- Ine. v. Stoel Rives, LLP, 127 Wn. App. 309, 328, 142, 111 P.3d 866
(2005), rev. denied, 156 Wn.2d 1008 (2006). That question is
answered by holding a “trial within.a trial” in the legal malpréctit:e |
action in which the jury is “asked to décide what a reasonable jury
s [in ‘the 'underlyilng' action] would have done but for the
attorney’s ﬁegligegce.” Daugert v. Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254; 258,
704 P.2d 600 (1985). | |

‘Thus, “in most legal rﬁalpracﬁce actions the jury should
decide the issue of cause in fact.” Daugert, 104 Wn.2d at 258; see
also Versuslaw, 127 Wn. App. at 329, 1 43 (“Whether Sfoel Rives’

alleged negligence caused VersusLaw’s damages is a question of fact




fc')r.a jury”). The only exception is where causation “depends on an
analysis of the law,” such as in Daugert where it turned on whether
a petition for review wod&.have been granted. 104 Wn.2d at 258;
Brust v, Newton, 70 'Wn. App. '2_86,- 201, 852 P.2d 1092 (1993)
(“Daugert is an exception to the rule that issues of fact be
determined by a jury;”_), rev. deni‘éd, 123 Wn.2d 1010 (1994).}

Here, determining whether Ms. Slack would have prevailed
on her failure to accommodate c’lairﬁ against tfxe DOC (had Ms.
Luke filed it) did not require analysis of the law. Resolution of her
underlying elaim required the jury to do only what it would do in
any case — decide whether a plaintiff established the elements of her
claim, That is the quintessential and constitutional jury task.
:Roﬁald Mallen, 4 Legal Malpractice § ;_3"7:126 at 1768 (2015 ed.)
(“resolving the underlyiﬁg case ordinarily is within the expertise of
tlié jury.”); Brust, 70 Wi, App. at 289 (“Article 1, section 21 of our
constitution ‘p.IIQVidési that fhe, right to a 'jury trial shall ,r.eniai'n,

iriviolate.”).,

t Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson, 100 Wn. App. 584, 999 P.2d
42, rev. denied, 141 Wn.2d 1016 (2000} nowhere states that the “failure to
file a claim thhm the statute of limitations is treated under the same
analysis as a failuré to timely file a notice of appeal.” (Resp. Br. 16)
Nielson applied the Daugert exception because the case turned on how
the Court of Appeals would have resolved a timely appeal, 100 Wn. App.

at 594‘95




Ms. Luke's. argument confuses the requirement of expert
testimony on the standard of care, which may be a “highly
technical” issué if the error is not obvious (inlike a ‘missed statute
of limitations). Geer v. Tonnon, 137 Wn. App. 838, 851, 1 22, 155
P.3d 163 (2007), rev. denied, 162 Wn.2d 1018 (2008). Ms. Luke’s
argument that causation is a question of law requiring expert
testimony in a legal malpractice action relies almost exclusively on a
~ misreading of Geer, Tn Geer, the mortgagee of a house required the
mortgagors to insure the property on his behalf. The mortgagors
obtdined insurance, but did not list the mortgagee as a named
insured. After the house burned down, the mortgagee's attorney
did not file suit to collect the ihsurance proceeds within a year of
tﬁe fire, as required by the policy. The mortgagée sued his attorney
for malpractice and the trial court dismissed on summary
judgnment, -

| Division Qﬁe affirmed, rejecting the mortgagee's afgﬁ,m,e,nt
that he. would have ptevailed in & suit 'againsf the insurer because
Washington law does not provide “a pefson who is not 4 naned
insured with a cause of action to sue an insurer directly to enforce
an equitable ien on insurance policy proceeds.” 137 Wn. App. at

845, 112, Thus, as in ,Dc‘zugert',‘ causation requiréd an analysis of




the law because the court had to assess whether any legal authority
authorized the allegedly forfeited cause of action. 137 Wn. App. at
850, 1 20 (malpractice claim failed “[blecause no statute; reported
decision, or ‘bedrock principle of equity’ provided Geer with a cause
of action to enforce an equitable lien directly against Lloyd’s™). In
contrast, a fail_uire to accommodate claim is well-established, as
both parties recognize. (App. Br. 32-37; Resp, Br. 23-30)

Geer .,also rejected the p’lainti'ft’_s sec.ondelury argument ,tha,t he
could have recovéred the insurance proceeds based on 4 retroactive
endorsement hecause he failed to provide “expeit festimony . .. to
establish that [the attorney] breach_ed the duty of care . . . by failing
to independeritly discover the éxistence of the endorsement.” 137
Wn: App. at 851, 1 23 (emphasis édded). The Court then opined
that the plaintiff also failed to establish causation because he “failed
1o provide expert: tesﬁmony or other evidence . . ., to show that had
[the attorney] »disqovered thie retroactive endorsement and filed suit
,+» [he] woﬁld have ébtained-- a,'fa\:mrabl'e ju&gmént.-” 137 W, App
éfc 851, 1 24 (emphasis added). Geer’s passing reference to “expert
testimony” when holding the claim failed because of a total lack of
* causation evidence did not establish the rule of law Ms. Luke

advances here — a legal malpracﬁce plaintiff’s claim fails as a matter




of law without expert testimony stating she would have prevailed in
the underlying action. See In re Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d 588, 600, 1
22, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014) ("Whére the literal words of a court
opinion appear to control an issue, but where the court did not'in
fact address or .c‘onsi'der-the, issue, the mliﬁg is not dispositive and
‘may be }reexx‘amine',d without violating stare decisis™) (quotat,ién
omitted).2

The only legal issue relevant to causation is whether Ms.
Slack presented sufficient evidence supporting her underlying claixﬁ
to avoid summadry fudgment. However, this question of law is for
‘the trial court not “experfs” to address, just as it would in the
underlying case. Mallen, 4 Legal Malpractice § 37:101 (“if the
evidence is undisputed or so conclusivg that. feasonable persons
would not disagree, the resolution presents a question of law for the
court"").‘ A court could not dismiss Ms, Slack’s underlying claim or

her malpractice claim based on “expert” testimony that it lacked

% The other case Ms. Luke primarily relies' on confirms expert
testirnony is required to establish the standard of care, not causation.
(Seé Resp. Br. 21-23, citing Boyle v, Welsh, 256 Neb. 118, 589 N.W.2d 118
(1999)) Boyle involved an attorney who sued a client’s physmian, but not
the physician’s partner or partuership, Boyle held expert testimony was
nécessary to establish it was a breach of the standard of gare to sue only
- the primary physxcaan, notmg “[w]hether 4 suit should be institited
agaipst a particular defendant is an issue that is within the province of an
_ attorney’s professmnal skill and Judgment, and is not within the ordinary

Kiowledge and expenenoe of laypersons.” 589 N.W.2d at'127.




. merit or violated CR 11, RCW 4.84.185, or RPC 3.1. (Resp. Br. 19, -
41) See Wasliington State Physiciaﬁs Ins. Exch. & Assn v. Fisons -
Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 344, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) (trial court
erroneously “considered the opinions of attorneys and others as to
whether” counsel’s actions violated court rules); Stenger v, State,
104 Wn. Aj)p. 393, 407, 16 P.ad 655 (“Experts may not offer
opinions of law in the guise of ekpert testimony,”), rev. denied 144
Wi.2d 1006 (2001)3 |

“Testimony” that a claim is meritorious is little more than
vouching for one’s own legal arguments. It is not evidence whether
presented by a party’s counsel or its “expert.” 6 Wash, Prac., Wash.
Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 1,02 (6th ed.) (“arguments are not
evidgnce”). Indeed, here the “expert testimony” added nothing ~ it
was a nearly word for word réepetition of argument in Ms. Luke’s
sumniary judgment motion. (Compare CP 153 (cited at Resp Br.
,49:)' with CP 811) Ms, Luke is free to largue (and has) that shé did
_no_fj ca,uée‘ Ms. Slack any harm because her lost cause of action

 would have failed - but that is a question first for the trial. court on

3 Ms. Luke contradicts herself by asserting that Ms. Slack’s claim
fails as a matter of law because she did not have experts opine about
complidnce with RPC 3.1, and then later asserting that “[c]Jompliance with
[RPC ;.2] is a matter for the courts.” (Compare Resp. Br. 19 with Resp.
Br.53) . ' : :




summary judgment and then for a jury in the “triél within a trial,” |
not for “experts” presenting ﬂie rehashed arguments of thg parties
as “testimony.” | '

Even if viewed as an issue of standard of care, no expeit
testimony is needed where, as here, the causal link between the
attorney’s negligence and the Acliént’s harm is obvious, as when an
attorney .misses the statute of limitations. “The most frequent
situation; not requi'fing, expert testimony, is a statute of limitations
ves mis;sed;” Mallen, supra, § 37:128 at 1776-77; see also § 37:137 at
1809 (“Causation may be obvious, if the lawyer's error was an
afﬁrﬁlative act or for some omissions, such as the failure to file a
l'awsﬁit.”). Even though none was required, Ms, Slack nevertheless
provided expert testimony that Ms, Luke’s conduct fell below the
standard of earé. (CP 204-13)4 |

Ms. Luke provides no reason for disregarding the well-

established “trial within a trial” procedure for resolving causation in -

4 Ms. Slack’s experts did not imapermissibly render opinions about
whether Ms, Luke satisfied RPC 1.2, but instead pointed out orily that it is
the rule governing limiting the scope of representation. (Resp. Br, 53; CP
207, 212) Indeed, Ms, Luke. cites it herself in arguing she did not comamit
mialpractice. (Resp. Br. 49) Likewise, Ms. Slack’s experts properly relied
on facts supplied by Ms. Slack, just as Ms, Luke’s experts. relied on facts
‘provided by her. (Compare Resp. Br. 53 with CP 151 ("It is my
understanding, based [on] Luke's testimony . .."), ER 703 (experts need
not have personal knowledge of facts-on which they base their opinions))




legal malpractice cases. This Court should reverse and remand for a
jury to weigh the merits of Ms. Slack’s malpractice claim,
C. No alternative grounds support surmmary judgmeﬁt.
1. Ms. Luke’s self-serving testimony cannot
negate the existence of an attorney-client
relationship as a matter of law, particularly in
light of the unrestricted fee agreement, -
Ms. Luke cannot justify summary judgment by pointing to
* only the evidence favorable to her and ignoring the evidence that
' Ms. Slack hired her to file an éction again,st the DOC. See Taylor v.
Bell, 185 Wn. App. 270, 289-95, 11 45-60, 340 P.3d 951 (2014), rev.
denied, 352 P.3d 188 (2015) (cdnﬂicting testimony of client and
attorney created issue of fact on scope of representation) (Resp. Br.
49). Yet, that is precisely what Ms, Luke does, repeatedly citing her
own statements as “fact,” while ignoring Ms, ASlack’s. This Court
* should reject Ms. Luke’é one-sided account and reverse because it is
an issue of fact whether filing a tort'actiqn was within the scope of
Ms. Luke’s.repr,esentation of Ms, Slack.
| The objecﬁvé facts, -at‘a minimum, create an issue of facf
whether Ms. Slack retained Ms. Luke tolﬂle 'sdit. On December 21,
2009 — two months a‘ﬁér she purportedly told Ms. Slack she would
not pursue a claim on her behalf - Ms. Luke called the state

investigator to ascertain the status of Ms. Slack’s claim. (CP 41,
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